Bi-articular muscles and their control of activity at the knee

Piyanee Sriya

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Biomedical Sciences University of Leeds July 2018 The candidate confirms that the work submitted is her own and that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2018 The University of Leeds and Piyanee Sriya

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the people that have provided support, advice and help throughout my PhD.

Firstly, I would like to thank both of my supervisors, Dr Samit Chakrabarty and Dr Sarah Astill, who have played a part in supporting me throughout my PhD. Especially Dr Samit Chakrabarty, my main supervisor, for all his time, guidance and support over the last four years.

Secondly, I would like to thank Thomas Richards and Brendan for technical support in my studies. Thanks to Christine Addington for helping me recruit participants, and Gareth York for helping me write R script.

I gratefully acknowledge the Royal Thai Government and Phramongkultkloa College of Medicine for supporting me financially, and for the opportunity of working towards a PhD.

A million thanks go to my wonderful friends Pip, Roger, Mungo, Richards, Calvin, Aun, Por, Card, Amey, Ross and Jarek for being my companions at meal times. I would like to thank all my participants who took part in these studies.

Last but not least, my family: I would like to thank my dad, mom and my brother for their encouragement.

Piyanee Sriya July 2018

Abstract

This thesis addresses the role of biarticular muscles in the control of the knee joint during a static isometric and a dynamic balance task, and the question of whether these can be affected with training. Thirty-nine healthy participants participated in this study (F=17, M=25.46yrs±4.15): 17 in the static task (F= 8, $M=24.29yrs\pm 2.62$), and 22 in the dynamic task (F = 9, M=26.23yrs\pm 4.69). Surface EMGs were recorded from multiple muscles at the knee and ankle of the right leg. The prevailing assumption during these tasks is that the anatomical position of the muscle underpins its activity, so its contribution to control is welldefined at all times. The agonist-antagonist interactions at the joint, aid maintenance of an upright posture. For example, at the knee joint it is the interaction between the flexors (semitendinosus (ST) and bicep femoris (BF)) and extensors (rectus femoris (RF), vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM) and vastus intermedius (VI)), together with the ankle flexors (tibialis anterior (TA)) and extensors (soleus (SL), lateral gastrocnemius (LG) and medial gastrocnemius (MG)). During a dynamic task, used to examine and restore balance, muscles at the ankle and trunk are assumed to be most involved in maintaining balance. My findings suggest that the biarticular muscles of the knee are involved significantly in both static and dynamic tasks, as well as when balanced, although there was an overall increase in activity in the ankle muscles. With training, these were found to be more involved, suggesting rehabilitation focussed on the knee muscles may speed recovery of balance. My data suggests further research is necessary to not only establish the role of the muscles acting at the knee during common tasks such as sit-to-stand, posture and walking but also in rehabilitation.

Contents

Bi-articular muscles and their control of activity at the knee 1

Acknowledgements iii

Abstract iv

List of Abbreviations v

List of Tables vi

List of Figures vii

Chapter 1. Introduction 9

- 1.1 General introduction to motor control 9
- 1.2 Motor deficits and motor assessment 10
- 1.3 Benefits of a quantitative evaluation 10
 - 1.3.1Multiple treatments.10
 - 1.3.2 Tailored treatment. 11
 - 1.3.3 Improving current practice. 11

1.4 Neurophysiology: modulation circuits and pathways 13

- 1.4.1 Motor innervation 14
- 1.4.2 Sensory innervation 15
- 1.4.3 Length feedback and muscle spindle apparatus system. 16
- 1.4.4 Latency response (table 1.1) 19
- 1.4.5 Long latency 19
- 1.4.6 Short latency 20
- 1.4.7 Anatomy of the knee 20
- 1.4.8 Anterior of the knee 20
- 1.4.9 Posterior of the knee: 21
- 1.4.10 Range of motion 22
- 1.5 Isometric tasks and maximal voluntary effort 23
- 1.6 Dynamic standing balance 25
- 1.7 The role of synergies 26
- 1.8 Hypothesis 30
- 1.9 Aims 30
 - 1.9.1 Study 1: Role of bi-articular muscles during a passive task. 31

Chapter 2 Quadriceps muscle compartments are not agonistic during a static isometric knee task 32

- 2.1 Introduction 32
- 2.2 Methods 33

- 2.2.1 Electrode placements 35
- 2.2.2 Procedures 38
- 2.2.3 Comparison of the EMGs across subjects 39
- 2.2.4 Statistical tools. 40
- 2.3 Results 43
 - 2.3.1 Muscle activity (RMS) 43
 - C2 0°: VL>VM>BF>ST; 20°: BF> ST>VM, VL> RF; 60°: BF> ST>VM, VL> RF; 90°: ST> BF, VL>VM>RF 44
 - 2.3.2 Cluster and grouping 44
 - 2.3.3 Hierarchical cluster analysis was used for classification of the activity in these muscles in both C1 and C2 at different angles across all subjects. 44
 - 2.3.4 The similarity of muscle activity 46
- 2.4 Discussion 54
 - 2.4.1 Main finding 54
 - 2.4.2 How this changes the original thinking 55
 - 2.4.3 Flexible synergies, not fixed synergies: Proprioceptive > biomechanics > anatomy 57
 - 2.4.4 Possible mechanisms 58
 - 2.4.5 Clinical implication 59
 - 2.4.6 Recommendations for MVC standards 60
- 2.5 Conclusions 62

Chapter 3 Identification of lower limb synergies during dynamic balance test 63

- 3.1 Introduction 63
- 3.2 Methods 64
 - 3.2.1 Participants 64
 - 3.2.2 Task and Procedure 64
 - 3.2.2.1 MVC: Soleus maximal voluntary contraction 64
 - 3.2.3 Analysis 65
- 3.3 Results 73
 - 3.3.1 Maximal voluntary contractions: Normalisation MVC 73
- Figure 2-4 Normalisation of muscle activity to that of SL during MVC. Activity during plantar flexion MVC (mean± SEM) recording from eight muscles SL, MG, LG, RF, VL, ST, BF and TA. A) Represents group1 (n=14) and B) represents Group2 (n=8). * indicates p<0.05, ** indicates p<0.01 and *** p<0.001 73
 - 3.3.2 Duration of MVC plantar flexion 74
 - 3.3.3 Balance board 75

- 3.4 Discussion 78
 - 3.4.1 Main findings 78
 - 3.4.2 Possible mechanism: MVC 78
 - 3.4.3 Possible mechanism: Dynamic Balance 80
 - 3.4.4 Clinical implications 83
- 3.5 Conclusions 84

Chapter 4 Pathways associated with altered lower limb muscle response to training during a dynamic task 86

- 4.1 Introduction 86
- 4.2 Methods 87
 - 4.2.1 Equipment/tools 87
 - 4.2.2 Participants 88
 - 4.2.3 Procedure 89
- 4.3 Results 91
- 4.4 4.Overall data 91
 - 4.4.1 Grouped data 92
 - 4.4.2 Comparison of latencies to that of SL 93
- 4.5 Discussion 96
 - 4.5.1 Main findings 96
 - 4.5.2 TA response after tibial nerve stimulation 96
 - 4.5.3 Changes in spinal evoked response excitability after training97
 - 4.5.4 MG amplitude is greater than LG, TA by positioning 98
- 4.6 Conclusions 99

Chapter 5 General discussion 100

- 5.1 Possible mechanisms 100
- 5.2 C. Clinical Correlation 101
- 5.3 Future directions 103
- 5.4 Conclusions 105

References 106

Appendix 1

List of Abbreviations

sEMG	Surface Electromyography
RF / RFr	Rectus Femoris / Right rectus femoris
VL/ VLr,	Vastus Lateralis / Right vastus lateralis
VM/ VMr	Vastus Medialis / Right vastus medialis
TA/TAr	Tibialis Anterior / Right tibialis anterior
BF/BFr	Biceps femoris / Right biceps femoris
ST/STr	Semitendinosus / Right semitendinosus
LG/LGr	Lateral Gastrocnemius / Right lateral gastrocnemius
MG/MGr	Medial Gastrocnemius / Right medial gastrocnemius
SL/SLr	Soleus / Right soleus

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Latencies to identify the origin of reflex evoked response Error!Bookmark not defined.

Table	1.2	Range	of	motion	and	knee	function	in	activities	in	daily	life.
Error! Bookmark not defined.												

36					
37					
er 43					
st. Err	or!				
Table 2.5 Summarise PCA results from the comparison of synergies					
	36 37 er 43 st. Err				

Table 4.1 Characteristic of the 15 participants
 Error! Bookmark not defined.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The assessment of lower limb function.. 11

Figure 1.2 Diagram of proprioception showing motor innervation and sensory innervation 14

Figure 1.3 la muscle spindle afferent Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 1.4 lb Golgi tendon afferent 17

Figure 1.5 Group II secondary muscle spindle 18

Figure 1.6 EMG recording 19

Figure 1.7 Range of motion and bony landmarks to measure knee flexion/extensionError! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 1.8 Diagram showing the concept of fixed and flexible synergies. 26

Figure 2.1 A representative angle of 90 ° for position 1 (C1) and Position 2 (C2) Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 2.2 Demonstrate Root mean square (RMS) to assess muscle activity 40

Figure 2.3 Maximal muscle activity (root mean square) of isometric knee extension 43

Figure 2.4 Hierarchical cluster of positions 1 (C1) and 2 (C2) across 4 angles (0 °, 20 °, 60 °, 90 °) of knee flexion 45

Figure 2.5 Pearson's correlation across 0° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2). 48

Figure 2.6 Pearson's correlation across 20° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2) 49

Figure 2.7 Pearson's correlation across 60° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2) 50

Figure 2.8 Pearson's correlation across 90° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2). 51

Figure 2.9 Principle component analysis (PCA) demonstrating three types of muscle synergistic patterns 53

Figure 2.10 Diagram of muscle synergies of the two positions (C1 and C2) in different four angles.. 61

Figure 3.1Procedure of the experiment A) MVC plantar flexion focusing on soleus on Biodex, B) participant was standing on balance board (stable

Figure 3.2 Frequency measures to assess fatigue. 66

Figure 3.3 A details of balance board analysis. Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 3.4 Normalisation MVC relative to SL activity. 73

Figure 3.5 Average of burst duration during soleus MVC 75

- Figure 3.6 Muscle activity (mean ± SEM) during stable phase 76
- Figure 3.7 Change in muscle activity pre and post balance bpard training. 79

Figure 4.1 Standard testing and training protocol and example of evoked responses in muscles to tibial nerve stimulation. 89

Figure 4.2 Latency changes in onset to peak between pre and post-training Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 4.3 Evoked response changes in TA, LG, MG and SL to Tibial nerve stimulation 92

Figure 4.4 Latency changes compared to the peak in SL muscle Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 4.5 Comparison latency and amplitude of evoked response across three groups 94

- Figure 4.6 Tibial nerve stimulation evoked a response in TA muscle 97
- Figure 5.1 The recommendations for improved clinical assessment Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figure 5.2 Summary of possible mechanisms 100

Figure 5.3 Clinical correlation relying on possible mechanisms from this thesis 102

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 General introduction to motor control

Motor control is the study of the nature and cause of movement (Shumwaycook et al., 1987). Motor control is comprised of both biomechanical and neuromechanical aspects, and in this study, it was found that changes in muscle activity and associated movement are caused by neuromechanical rather than biomechanical events.

A significant proportion of our understanding of motor control is based on experimental evidence that is either purely kinematic or the recording of activity from a few select muscles that are anatomically defined as agonists and antagonists at a joint. In this thesis, we will explore how the muscles at a joint interact with other muscles during normal activity in healthy participants in a simple, currently-used, clinical tests.

The focus will be on the interactions between the muscles of the knee. This is the largest joint, which is essential for the performance of tasks in active daily living. The knee is classified as a modified hinge joint (Bohannon and Smith, 1987), with an ability to both flex and extend, thus acting in three main tasks: walking, stabilizing the posture and sit-to-stand. Without these normal functions of the knee, basic tasks become difficult. For example, amongst patients with poststroke spasticity, the knee joint muscles are the most affected (37%) (Martin et al., 2014).

Normal functioning of the knee involves both the musculoskeletal and nervous systems, as observed in post-spasticity stroke patients with a significant neurological loss of the descending control pathways, who exhibit motor deficits such as knee hyperextension or knee stiffness.

Isometric knee extension is routinely used as a clinical test to assess the function of the lower limbs of patients and is graded by the examiner as poor, fair or good (Kendall and Kendall, 2005). However, there is no prescribed position for the knee to be placed in when these tests are carried out. This is likely to influence the local reflexes and interaction between the muscles.

Although the clinical test is an isometric task, the position of the knee during the

extension is important in the Fugl Meyer test (Bohannon & Smith 1987), as muscles at the knee, are likely to be stretched in one position more than another, introducing sensory feedback which leads to altered muscle tone. This is because the movement is the product of coordinated and reflexive muscle activity, and is controlled by descending and sensory inputs (Sherrington, 1906). These local spinal reflexes are especially important to make a note of, as after injury, be it peripheral or central, these reflexes are severely modified.

1.2 Motor deficits and motor assessment

Knee extension is one of the crucial tasks such as sit-to-stand and standing balance. It can be performed by a knee extensor such as rectus femoris. Both flexor and extensor function as a muscle synergy controlled by supraspinal and proprioceptive afferent inputs. Normal movement is taken for granted by most until it is disrupted; we rarely think about how we walk or control the lower limbs. It is only when movement becomes difficult that we begin to think about how the joints are controlled, and how daily tasks can be performed smoothly. Spasticity is a major problem that affects the muscles at the knee, thereby disrupting walking and basic routines such as sit-to-stand and altering daily life. Consequently, it is a social and economic burden on both the subject and society (Payne et al., 2002a, Payne et al., 2002b). Over £100 billion is spent every year on the improvement of motor function in patients suffering from strokes and spinal cord injury. Direct costs for patients with post-stroke spasticity are approximately four times that of stroke patients without spasticity (Lundstrom et al., 2010). Spasticity is commonly evaluated by clinicians by assessing muscle tone in the quadriceps muscles, without any specification for the position of the knee. Currently, spasticity measurement systems are subjective examinations, for

Currently, spasticity measurement systems are subjective examinations, for example, the Modified Ashworth Scale, which rely on therapists scoring the spasticity. For reproducibility, a more quantitative measurement scale would be better. However, to introduce such a scale, knowledge of normal muscle interaction at the knee is necessary.

1.3 Benefits of a quantitative evaluation

1.3.1 Multiple treatments.

Spasticity is treated with multiple therapies such as Botox injection, passive

stretching, and electrical stimulation. These are not always effective in improving motor outcome. In addition, it is expensive when multiple therapies are applied at the same time for the same patient.

1.3.2 Tailored treatment.

If we can classify the patients using more objective and quantitative measures, we will have a diagnosis that is more specific, allowing the therapy to be more specifically tailored to the individual.

1.3.3 Improving current practice.

An improved quantitative scale based on muscle activity will provide a uniform scale that can be used universally by clinicians without subjective bias. This will provide the basis for the stratification of therapies, which are then likely to be more effective, as the source of the problem should be identified more accurately. In this way, it will be possible to improve motor outcome with rehabilitation. Essentially, the more specific the diagnosis is, the more effective the recovery will be.



Figure 1-0-1 The assessment of lower limb function. Adapted from Bohannon and Smith (1987).

In order to observe the progression of motor deficit in patients such as stroke patients, clinicians utilize motor assessment guidelines to examine motor outcome, as shown in figure 1.1 (Bohannon, 2007, Bohannon and Smith, 1987). The motor outcome assessment (figure 1.1) can be divided into two aspects:

upper limb ability and lower limb ability. Lower limb ability is the focus of this thesis. There are four tests physiotherapists use in the clinic to assess the lower limb:

1) A muscle tone test, whereby lower limb muscle tone is scaled using the Modified Ashworth Scale, or MAS (grade 0 = no increase in muscle tone; grade 1= slight increase in muscle tone; grade 2 = more marked increase in muscle tone through most of the range of motion; grade 3 = considerable increase in muscle tone, with passive movement difficult; grade 4 = affected partial rigid in flexion or extension. An example of motor deficit affecting the knee is spasticity, the measure of a muscle's resistance towards the passive movement of the joints by the examiner (Duncan et al., 1985, Bohannon, 2007, Bohannon and Smith, 1987).

2) Muscle testing, where the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale is used to examine muscle strength (grade 0 = no muscle contraction, grade 1= trace of contraction, grade 2= active movement with gravity eliminated, grade 3= active movement against gravity, grade 4 = active movement against gravity, grade 5= normal strength).

3) A functional ability test, to test the activities used in daily life, using many tasks such as sit-to-stand, walking and dynamic balance. Functional ability is graded using the Fugl Mayer scoring system, which is sub-graded into three levels: poor, fair and good (poor = patients are not able to do the task, fair = patients are able to do the task with minor assistance, and good = patients are able to do the task completely without assistance.

4) in certain cases, a special test is required to assess nerve function, so electrical stimulation must be added to the lower limb ability test.

In terms of the outcomes of the four tests, five outcomes are relevant to this study. Firstly, for the muscle tone test, a passive knee control position is used to assess knee ability in study 1 (chapter 2). Secondly, in the muscle strength assessment, the knee extension outcome of the quadriceps muscle strength test is used in study 1 (chapter 2). Thirdly, ankle plantar flexion or ankle dorsiflexion is an example of lower limb muscle testing used to assess soleus muscle ability that I will refer to in study 2A in chapter 3. Fourthly, dynamic standing balance is used in study 2A to test the lower limb controlling balance. Before patients are discharged from the hospital, they must have good balance, both static and dynamic; therefore, dynamic balance is important in training patients to walk

independently. This dynamic balance outcome is used in study 2A and will be referred to in detail in chapter 3. Finally, for the nerve conduction velocity outcome, the nerve conduction velocity test has been adapted for use in study 2B to assess the spinal reflex. In study 2B, electrical stimulation will be applied to assess the peripheral nerve function outcome, to assess the pathways involved in lower limb muscle activity. The lower limb assessment in this thesis mainly uses clinical tests. It is proposed that electrophysiological studies and clinical tests are integrated to improve lower limb assessment in rehabilitation in the future. For example, both the MAS scale and the MRC scale are qualitative scales that are normally used in the clinic. However, they should be revised according to suggestions for a more quantitative scale to improve reliability. Regarding the diagram in figure 1.1, clinical tests such as passive knee control, isometric knee extension, dynamic standing balance and electrical stimulation were applied as per the methods section. This is because the clinical tests and scales can be improved in the future when we know the basic neural pathways and muscle interactions better. The topics discussed will be divided according to the diagram (figure 1.1): neurophysiology and pathways control the lower limb, anatomy of the knee, knee range of motion, isometric assessment and dynamic standing balance.

1.4 Neurophysiology: modulation circuits and pathways

To smoothly coordinate lower limb muscle activity, the nervous system needs two types of information about the current state of a muscle. First, it needs to know the amount of tension in the muscle (Ia) and its associated tendons (Ib). This information is provided by the Golgi tendon organs. Second, it needs to know the length of the muscle. These two types (Ia and Ib) of proprioceptors play an important role in spinal reflexes, and also provide essential feedback to the cerebrum and cerebellum (Eccles and Lundberg, 1957). In this chapter, the diagram of the neurophysiology shows the muscle spindle and Golgi tendon and circuits (figure1.2). The nervous system enables the body to respond to continuous changes in its external and internal environment. It controls and integrates the functional activities of the organ systems. Anatomically, the nervous system is divided into the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral nervous system (PNS). The CNS consists of the brain and spinal cord. The

peripheral nervous system consists of the cranial nerve, spinal nerve and peripheral nerves that conduct impulses from (via efferent or motor nerves) and to (via afferent or sensory nerves) the CNS (Eccles, 1957, Davis, 1961)

The functional units of the nervous system are the neurone, which is divided into three categories: 1) sensory neurons, 2) motor neurons and 3) interneurons(Cleveland and Hoffman, 1991).

1) Sensory neurons convey impulses from the periphery to the CNS (Todd, 2010). This thesis focusses on the proprioceptive pathways from the muscles and tendon organs to provide the CNS with information related to the body and limbs.

2) Motor neurons convey impulses from the CNS or ganglia to effector cells. Somatic efferent neurons send voluntary impulses to skeletal muscles (Rothwell, 1994).

3) Interneurons form a communicating and integrating network between the sensory and motor neurons (Jankowska, 1992).

1.4.1 Motor innervation

Skeletal muscle fibres are richly innervated by motor neurones that originate in the spinal cord or brain stem. The axons of the neurons divide as they near the



Figure 1-0-2 Diagram of proprioception showing motor innervation and sensory innervation. Muscle spindle is connected in parallel with extrafusal muscle. Group Ia (muscle spindle primary) conveys signals from the muscle spindle, Group Ib conveys proprioception from the tendon, and Group II conveys signals from the muscle spindle.

muscle, giving rise to many branches that end on individual muscle fibres. The neuromuscular junction (motor end plate) is the contact made by the terminal branches of the axon with the muscle. The end of the axon ramifies into several end branches, each of which lies in a shallow depression on the surface of the receptor region of the muscle fibre. The axon ending is a typical presynaptic structure with synaptic vesicles containing neurotransmitters (acetylcholine) (Eccles et al., 1954). The release of acetylcholine into the synaptic cleft initiates depolarization of the plasma membrane, leading to muscle contraction (Heuser et al., 1979).

1.4.2 Sensory innervation

Encapsulated sensory receptors in muscles and tendons provide information about the degree of tension in a muscle, and its position. The muscle spindle detects the degree of stretch in a muscle (Banks et al., 2009).



Figure 1-0-3 Primary muscle spindle afferent (Ia) schematic for the simplest healthy spinal circuit for control of agonist and antagonist muscles, under modulatory control of descending corticospinal tract (CST) and peripheral input (PA). This represent s specifically the role of Ia afferents as output modulators. Green represents all interactions associated with PA and blue represents all related to CST. Inh = inhibitory interneuron, EXC = excitatory interneurone, MN = motoneurone

The sensory (afferent) nerve fibres carrying information from the muscle spindle (Eccles and Lundberg, 1957). In addition, spindle cells receive motor (efferent)

innervation from the spinal cord and brain via gamma (γ) efferent nerve fibres (Eccles, 1957, Granit et al., 1957), which are thought to regulate the sensitivity of the stretch receptor. When skeletal muscle is stretched, the nerve endings of sensory nerves become activated. They convey their impulses to the CNS, which in turn modulates the activity of motor neurons innervating that muscle (Burke et al., 1976). Tendon organs are found in the tendons of muscles and respond to stretch (PierrotDeseilligny and Burke, 2012) (figure 1.2).

1.4.3 Length feedback and muscle spindle apparatus system.

1.4.3.1 Muscle spinal primary afferent

Muscle spindle afferents (Ia) convey information about length changes from striated muscles. Ia fibres project to homonymous motoneurons directly (monosynaptic) and contact excitatory and inhibitory interneurones (polysynaptic) within the spinal cord. The inhibitory interneurones cause reciprocal inhibition of the antagonist muscles. Thus, during homonymous contraction, the collateral Ia branch inhibits heteronymous muscle (Baldissera et al., 1998) (figure 1.3).

1.4.3.2 Golgi tendon organ afferents

Disynaptic Golgi tendon organ afferent (Ib) reciprocal inhibition has been extensively studied in animals and humans (Sherrington, 1906, Lloyd and Chang, 1948, Eccles et al., 1956b, Eccles et al., 1956a, Eccles and Lundberg, 1957, Hultborn et al., 1971a, Hultborn et al., 1971b). There are a number of studies of the ankle but only a few of the knee (Bayoumi and Ashby, 1989), and due to lack of evidence some clinicians presume that reciprocal occurs between every agonist and antagonist muscle pair (Hamm and Alexander, 2010, Aslam et al., 2009, Kudina, 1980, PierrotDeseilligny and Burke, 2012) (figure 1.3). Tendon organ afferents (Ib). During isometric contraction, the corticospinal tract of the motor and the supplementary cortex excite motor pools in the spinal cord (Salenius et al., 1997), which later mediates signals via the femoral nerve to respective muscles as the final target outputs (Burke et al., 1979). In isometric knee extension, the rectus femoris length remains constant, but the muscle tone is changed. In this situation, we can assume that Golgi tendon (Ib) afferent may be involved. Ib afferent is active working when the tendon is stretched due to extreme movement of the joint. When you stretch the joint, lb will directly affect the joint tendon. Ib's activity seems to be the exact opposite of those of the la fibres. It may be that their activity is facilitating the lb interneurons. If so, the consequence of this will be the decrease in the agonist muscle force (Rothwell, 1994). In addition, the excitatory effects of lb interneurons on antagonist muscle may also reduce the speed of muscle contraction.



1.4.3.3 Muscle spindle secondary afferent

Figure 0-4 Golgi tendon organ afferent (lb): schematic for the simplest healthy spinal circuit for control of agonist and antagonist muscles, under modulatory control of descending corticospinal tract (CST) and peripheral input (PA). This represent s specifically the role of lb afferents as output modulators. Green represents all interactions associated with PA and blue represents all related to CST. Inh = inhibitory interneuron, EXC = excitatory interneurone, MN = motoneurone

Mathews suggested that secondary muscle spindle contributes to the inhibition of the extensor muscles (Matthews and Stein, 1969). In a study on humans, Roujeau and colleagues tested the heteronymous spindle afferent secondaries (group II) in the semitendinosus muscle by recording surface electromyography (sEMG) and placing electrical stimulation on the tibial nerve to examine the latency response (Roujeau et al., 2004). Their results suggested that the peak of the reflex can be found at 45 ms (Simonetta-Moreau et al., 1999).



Figure 1-5 Group II secondary muscle spindle: Primary muscle spindle afferent (Ia) schematic for the simplest healthy spinal circuit for control of agonist and antagonist muscles, under modulatory control of descending corticospinal tract (CST) and peripheral input (PA). This represents specifically the role of Ia afferents as output modulators. Green represents all interactions associated with PA and blue represents all related to CST. Inh = inhibitory interneuron, EXC = excitatory interneurone, MN = motoneurone

1.4.3.4 Recording Muscle activity using electromyography

To record muscle activity via the skin surface, electromyography is widely used. The surface electromyography technique (EMG) is used to record muscle activity and detect short and long latency.

EMG is a neurophysiological technique used in both the clinic and the research environment. Currently, both invasive and non-invasive methods are used to record EMG to evaluate the neuromuscular function in both healthy individuals and those with motor deficits. In this study surface, EMG (sEMG) was used as it is convenient to use, especially when recording from multiple muscles simultaneously, and especially during dynamic tasks. This is in addition to the fact that subjects prefer this too invasive EMG recordings.

1.4.3.4.1 What is an EMG recording?

18

An EMG as presented by Basmajian and de Luca (Basmajian and De Luca, 1985) is shown in figure 1.7. sEMG is recorded from muscle fibres which are under the sensors, placed over the motor endplate. The recordings are a summary of the



Figure 1-6 EMG signal recording from motor unit and accumulated signal from muscle fibres (adapted from Basmajian & Deluca, 1985)

effect of the activity of the fibres and not of a single motor unit. The myoelectric signals from several motor endplates are condensed into a triphasic motor unit action potential (MUAP). The depolarization-repolarization cycle produced at the neuromuscular junction endplate on the skeletal muscle fibre generates a depolarization wave which travels along the muscle fibre. There are two mechanisms that can modify the density of the signal: the recruitment of more MUAP, and their firing frequency.

1.4.4 Latency response (table 1.1) 1.4.5 Long latency

Hammond (Hammond, 1955) was the first to explain the long latency responses of about 100 ms or more. In the simple tendon jerk reflex, Rothwell suggested that under the proprioceptive feedback conditions, voluntary contraction can be as short as 90-100 ms. Two components can be involved in the long latency stretch reflexes: 1) Group II or secondary muscle spindle, and 2) the transcorticospinal tract which travels up to the sensorimotor cortex and back to the spinal cord via the corticospinal tract (Rothwell, 1994). Feedback control, including long latency responses, also adapts to context demands as learning occurs (Pruszynski and Scott, 2012). In balance training, H reflex was suppressed by long latency, which could be via supraspinal control of presynaptic inhibition (Taube et al., 2006).

1.4.6 Short latency

To identify the origin of neural adaptation (spinal cord, brain stem or peripheral) latencies of the responses have been used to clarify the pathways.

The first peak is usually at 20-50 ms after the perturbation for a short latency (PierrotDeseilligny and Burke, 2012). Short latency response is mediated by peripheral and spinal pathways and has a voluntary response following the reflex in less than 100 ms. However, there is little evidence to confirm medium latency because it may be difficult to measure the brainstem and cerebellum.

Categories	Long latency	Short latency		
Origin of reflex	Group II muscle spindle	Group Ia and Group II muscle spindle		
Reflex post duration	>100 ms (Rothwell, 1994)	20-50 ms (Marchand- Pauvert et al., 1999)		

Table 1-1 Latencies to identify the origin of reflex evoked response divided into two categories: long and short latencies

1.4.7 Anatomy of the knee

The knee is classified as a synovial joint, a weight-bearing articulation consisting of two mating members separated by articular cartilage, lubricated by synovial fluid enclosed in a fibrous capsule. Specifically, the knee consists of two articular joints: the tibiopatellar joint, and the tibiofemoral, which provides an articulation between the distal end of the femur and the proximal enlargement of the tibia. There are two cartilages, the medial meniscus and the lateral meniscus, providing shock absorption between the femur and tibia (Engin and Korde, 1974).

1.4.8 Anterior of the knee

The quadriceps consists of four parts: the rectus femoris (RF), vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM) and vastus intermedius (VI). The rectus femoris is in the middle of the thigh, is superficial, and takes a straight course down from the thigh to the knee. It is formed of two parts: 1) originating as a straight anterior

tendon from the anterior inferior iliac spine, and 2) the reflected posterior tendon from the hip joint, which is close to the anterior capsule of the hip. The vastus lateralis is situated lateral to the rectus femoris, with its proximal origin in the greater trochanter of the femur bone. The vastus medialis is medial to the rectus femoris, with its proximal origin high up at the intertrochanteric line of the femur. The vastus intermediate is located beneath the rectus femoris. It is partially fused with the two other vastus muscles and its proximal origin is high up at the lesser trochanter of the femur. The distal insertion of these four parts of the quadriceps is fused as a common tendon of the quadriceps, or a patellar tendon, which is inserted into the patellar bone.

1.4.9 Posterior of the knee:

the hamstring has been found to be more important than the other muscles for knee function

This thesis focusses primarily on the leg and knee, discussing 1) the two muscles of the hamstrings, and 2) the gastrocnemius.

Hamstrings (semitendinosus, semimembranosus and biceps femoris)

The semitendinosus of the hamstring is a posterior muscle of the thigh, which is located medial to the thigh, originating from the ischial tuberosity of the hip bone. The semitendinosus can be easily palpated when the participant is facing down on the bed with resisted knee flexion. The muscle belly is to the medial posterior of the thigh, and the examiner can trace it by using the fold of the semitendinosus tendon.

The semimembranosus is another of the hamstrings, which is located beneath the semitendinosus. It is not easily palpable as an individual muscle because it is covered by the semitendinosus. The insertion of the hamstring is the medial condyle of the femur.

The biceps femoris. The long head and short heads of the biceps femoris are located at the lateral posterior of the thigh. They flex and laterally rotate the knee joint. In addition, the long head extends and assists in the lateral rotation of the hip joint.

Gastrocnemius. The two heads (medial and lateral) of the gastrocnemius begin above the femoral condyles and cover the knee joint on the posterior of the knee. It terminates at the Achilles tendon at the ankle joint. The function of both muscles is knee flexion.





Figure 1-7 Range of motion and bony landmarks used to measure knee flexion/ extension

The knee movements can be flexion, extension, gliding or minor rotation. Both flexion and extension involve movement along the sagittal plane of movement. Extension of the knee is its movement in the anterior direction to a straight position, with the alignment of the thigh and lower leg such that the extended knee is in zero position, locked to prevent any rotation, and the thigh fixed, while flexion is a movement in the posterior direction. From the zero position of extension, the full range up to knee flexion is approximately 150° (Kendall and Kendall, 2005). In the clinic and my study 1, the motion of the knee joint is measured using a goniometer and a bony landmark is used to define the goniometer arm. As shown in figure 1.8, the proximal bony landmark is the greater trochanter, the centre of the goniometer is placed over the lateral

Knee position	Bony landmark to measure the knee angle							
Flexion/ Extension	Proximal reference	Centre		Distal reference				
	Greater trochanter	nter Lateral epicondyle of the femur		Lateral malleolus				
Range of motion and function								
Function	Allowable	Walking	Sitting	Climbing stairs				
Range of motion	150 °/ -5°	70°/0°	100°- 120°	70°- 90°				

Table 1-2 Range of motion and knee function in activities in daily life

epicondyle, and the distal reference is placed over lateral malleolus. The hip is flexed when measuring full knee joint flexion to avoid restriction of motion by the rectus femoris, but the joint should not be fully flexed when measuring knee joint extension, to avoid restriction by the hamstring muscles. Lateral-rotation is a rotation away from the midsagittal plane. Medial-rotation is a rotation of the anterior surface of the leg toward the midsagittal plane. The table below (table 1.2) shows the range of motion (in degrees) at the knee during daily activities (Stewart and Hall, 2006). There are two main tasks to discuss here regarding their use as clinical tests and their application as a tool in this thesis: 1) isometric tasks 2) dynamic tasks.

1.5 Isometric tasks and maximal voluntary effort

In clinics, isometric procedures are used to test muscle strength and during rehabilitation. Knee isometric extension, as mentioned in the lower limb assessment (figure 1.1) is used as a task in study 1 to assess the activity of the quadriceps and hamstring. Isometric contraction can identify specific muscle weakness; therefore, developing muscle overload at the joint angle isometric knee extension is used to test quadriceps capability (Gandevia and McKenzie, 1988, Duchateau and Enoka, 2016). The isometric knee contraction defines muscle activation in which no observable change occurs in muscle fibre length. The firing rate of human muscle spindle afferents accelerates with pronounced irregularity during isometric contractions (Vallbo, 1970, Burke et al., 1976) in which the muscle gains tension but does not appreciatively modify its length. Furthermore, strength training can result in a greater activation of muscle, thus influencing strength production. Isometric exercise overloads the muscle and improves strength but offers only limited benefits compared to sports training. A manual activity test established by the Medical Research Council (MRC) of Great Britain is widely used for the prognosis of muscle strength (Paternostro-Sluga et al., 2008). However, little is known about the reliability and validity of the MRC scale in musculoskeletal and peripheral nerve lesions (Cuthbert and Goodheart, 2007). It is proposed in this study that maximal voluntary effort (MVE) be applied in all protocols because it can be used with neurological patients in the future. In addition, a maximal voluntary effort test (MVE), combined with the EMG technique is used in the experiments, because MVE can have a more quantitative

scale. In isometric conditions, whether the neural activation generated by the CNS depends on muscle length or not remains an unsettled issue (Gandevia and McKenzie, 1988, Duchateau and Enoka, 2016). A static muscle contraction normally refers to a contraction where a person attempts to recruit as many muscle fibres in a muscle as possible to generate maximal force, often called maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), against a steady force. In the experiment, isometric or static exercises were used, and participants were asked to generate as much muscle activity as they could, as a voluntary muscle effort (MVE), without any resistance provided. Researchers generally use MVC, however, MVE was used in this study to ensure force feedback did not corrupt the muscle interactions. As Merton suggested, the term 'effort' is used to define an MVC, and removal of the force acting at the joint when they are making the effort should not eliminate any form of force feedback to the muscle that would modify the proprioceptive feedback (Merton, 1954). Participants were asked to perform isometric knee contractions while voluntarily contracting the rectus femoris during the task. This ensured consistency across subjects and angles, with similar recruitments in carrying out the task. In study 2A and 2B, MVC was used to examine the interaction between muscles during a soleus MVC.

Which are better: static or dynamic methods?

Isometric tests show the greatest strength improvement, while the dynamic task is a good way to apply resistance during a range of motion activities. A dynamic muscle action produces movement of the joint: for example, concentric and eccentric actions; for example, concentric (shortening) and eccentric (lengthening) muscle actions' (Herzog, 2014, Edman et al., 1988, Morgan et al., 2000). The dynamic fusimotor neurons increase the response of the primary endings during the dynamic phase of stimuli, while the excitatory action of static neurons is dominant at a constant muscle length (Duchateau and Enoka, 2016, Enoka and Duchateau, 2016).

Review of the literature related to isometric and dynamic tasks

Antagonists of knee extensor muscles like the hamstring stabilise the agonists (quadriceps muscles). In 1996, Aagaard and colleagues published results regarding the capacity for joint stabilization by means of antagonist hamstring coactivation. They found that the knee seemed unstable if the hamstring muscles were not as strong as the quadriceps muscles. The hamstring/quadriceps strength ratio (H/Q) is typically 40-50% across velocity and contraction

modes(Aagaard et al., 1996). Aagaard and Magnusson examined the H/Q strength ratio during knee isotonic contraction (eccentric) in a seated position (Aagaard et al., 1998). sEMG from the posterior of the thigh (biceps femoris, semitendinosus) and the vasti muscle at the front of the thigh were used for correlation analysis. They found that the activity of the biceps femoris was three times as great as that of the semitendinosus. These hamstring/quadriceps ratios are probably more indicative of the muscle grouping recruitment during a task.

1.6 Dynamic standing balance

In terms of rehabilitation weight-bearing exercise and performance, knee stability has to be tested before walking or stepping (Beutler et al., 2002). Neuromuscular control of the knee is important for lower limb balance control, especially dynamic strategies. Again, the response is focussed on the knee, while the control of posture is an adaptable feature of the motor system, depending on the sensory input and dynamic balance modulation output (Enoka and Duchateau, 2016, Sherrington, 1931). Sensorimotor control involves CNS control of movement. balance, posture and joint stability. Motor adaptation requires intact sensation: sensory system, visual, vestibular, somatosensory and proprioception (Franklin and Wolpert, 2011). Taube discussed balance training that can be used for rehabilitation, an ankle injury and postural deficits, and Taube believed that supraspinal and spinal pathways can be adapted to control balance (Taube et al., 2008a). Berg measured balance in the elderly, that is, the bipedal upright position controlled by the biomechanical (anatomy of whole body stability and segmental stability) and neurophysiological systems (Berg et al., 1992, Baudry et al., 2015). When standing upright, the body sways backwards and forward. Muscular activation prevents falls and represents automatic postural control activity (Dietz, 1992, Dietz et al., 1992).

The control of balance, along with proprioception reflexes, were described earlier; here the two pathways related to balance control are addressed: the vestibulospinal tract and the reticulospinal tract.

Evidence from human studies suggests that the vestibulospinal tract is for upright posture preservation, especially the extensor muscles for opposing gravity. However, the vestibulospinal tract does not facilitate voluntary movements dictated by the cerebral cortex: it is essential for such highly skilled accomplishments of motor coordination as the acts of an acrobat. The learning of these aspects of the skilled movement that involve posture and balance is affected by the vestibulospinal pathway. A caveat is that the vestibulospinal system excites extensor motoneurones and inhibits flexor motoneurones. The reticulospinal tract elicits both excitation and inhibition of flexor and extensor motoneurones (Lyalka et al., 2005). When we move, we are usually unaware of the complex neuromuscular process that controls our posture, but postural control is obvious enough when we accidentally fall or when disease damages parts of the postural system. The mechanical problem of maintaining posture is particularly challenging for upright bipeds (McCall et al., 2017). Balance training exercises are a challenge, and have been used to naturalise postural deficits, adapt motor skills and improve proprioceptive function (Taube et al., 2008a). Taube and colleagues studied the balance platform that could have central adaptions at multiple levels due to exercise. They found that increased coactivation of agonist and antagonist was related to improved joint stability. Studies have demonstrated the preventive effects of learning and training with respect to ankle and knee joint injuries. The main concern for a beginner in a motor task is to master the multiple and redundant degrees of freedom involved. Briefly, balance training is not only applied to rehabilitation and prevention, but also to improving motor performance, especially muscle power in the elderly (Taube et al., 2008a, Burdet et al., 2001). When participants perform balance control, Kiers and colleagues claimed that gastrocnemius-soleus may be important, while lumbar muscles receive more impact while standing on hard surfaces (Kiers et al., 2012). During the performance of tasks, the spinal cord can change the skills. After learning, muscle activity can be shifted, the H reflex may be greater or lesser, and training can affect the corticospinal tract (Wolpaw, 2007b).

1.7 The role of synergies

Synergy is where the whole is greater than the sum of its parts. Muscle synergists are muscles working together towards a single task. There are two views about synergy (figure1.7): fixed, and flexible (d'Avella et al., 2003). The synergy is fixed



Figure 1-8 Diagram showing concept of fixed and flexible synergies, adapted from d'Avella 2003.

where a muscle group is predetermined, and each synergy is, therefore, simplifying the control of the process. In contrast, the flexible view is that there is no limit to the possible combinations of muscle activation patterns; each muscle is independently controlled (Cheung et al., 2012).

It has long been proposed that muscle co-activation during a task, commonly called muscle synergies are recruited by the cortex as motor primitives. This view of recruitment of primitives refers to the concept of a fixed synergy, proposed by neuroscientists to explain the control of muscles directly by the brain, often considering all things downstream like the central pattern generators in the spinal cord as primitives. Primitives were defined as the elements required for generating a stable mechanical response during motor behaviour. Muscle synergy has been studied in various vertebrates, for example, frogs, rats, cats and humans (Mussa-Ivaldi and Bizzi, 2000, Mussa-Ivaldi et al., 1994). Giszter and Cheung have proposed that the observed muscle synergies have a neuronal substrate and is hence related to neural coordination (Giszter et al., 1993, Cheung et al., 2012). They examined this in frogs, by stimulating the spinal grey matter and recording the evoked isometric forces acting at the ankle. Emergent patterns were considered to be the result of interaction between the mechanics of the limb and the contractions of muscle groups activated by microstimulation of the spinal cord. Using cluster analysis, they defined the patterns of synergy providing an insight into organsition of the frog's spinal cord for producing multijointed movement. Some of the frogs exhibited changes in the evoked force fields, which were likely due to modulation by either the descending or the afferent inputs. With respect to governance of the movement, the elastic properties of the muscles provided instantaneous correcting forces when a limb was moved away from the intended equilibrium. When the brain has accomplished the ability to control equilibrium, it can also master movements as temporal sequences for such postures. The use of an equilibrium-point strategy may be a characteristic of these spinally generated motor programmes within the frog's spinal cord. Some of these force fields clearly underlie phases of natural behaviours. These primitives are used in pattern generators and other spinal behaviours and are recruited by descending control systems to produce adjustable behaviours (Giszter et al., 1993).

An alternative approach to explain motor control proposes a combination of the theory of primitives and rather flexible control of muscle activity for gross motor skills. Bernstein (1967) proposed that the primary concern for a beginner in a motor task is to master the multiple and redundant degrees of freedom potentially involved (Caillou et al., 2002). Given an example from my study 2A dynamic balance board, participants tried to maintain balance using different groups of muscles. According to Bernstein's degrees of freedom problem (Bernshtein, 1967), or the motor equivalence problem in motor control, there are multiple ways for humans or animals to perform a movement in order to achieve the same goal. In other words, under normal circumstances, no simple one-to-one correspondence exists between a motor problem (or task) and a motor solution to the problem. For example, post-training there was a reduction in the number of observed muscle synergies recruited amongst the subjects to achieve balance in study 2A (chapter 3). However, it is still not established which variable, or a set of variables define the upright stance in these healthy participants. This is partly what Bernstein suggested as the broader issue that the DoF is introduced by the levels of variability within coordination, control and skill involved in performing a motor act. Degree of freedom (DoF) problem is simply put, related to the motion possibilities of rigid bodies. Kinematic definition for DoF for any system or its components can thus be "the number of independent variables or coordinates required to ascertain the position of the system or its component.

The flexibility to select different synergies to carry out the same task is possibly an evolutionarily conserved function, necessitated by the organisms necessity for survival (Liu et al., 2018). Principles of sensorimotor integration during postural control requires perception and corrections.(Liu et al., 2018, Horak et al., 1997, Shumwaycook et al., 1987). It has been suggested that the central nervous system, not only controls the output of the muscles, but also the degrees of freedom of the joints, often using the signal from the effector which converges within the spinal cord to produce movement (Todorov, 2004).

Given example my study 2A-standing balance, it has been suggested by Horak and Shumwaycook that the postural control used both sensory feedback and perception.

Therefore, it is not only nervous system control like as the fixed synergies view, but DoF become a key role. Why did we think about DoF? Because DoF gives us an idea about how to correct the posture by reducing the degree of freedom. For example, at the beginning, the participants used antero-posterior and mediolateral direction to control balance, but after training, they used only anteroposterior. DoF suggested that muscle adaption and the sensory feedback improve the behavioral performance.

The sensorimotor system is a product of evolution, development, learning and adaptation-which work on different time scales to improve behavioural performance. Consequently, many theories of motor function are based on 'optimal performance': they quantify task goals as cost functions and apply the sophisticated tools of optimal control theory to obtain detailed behavioural predictions. The resulting models, although not without limitations, have explained more empirical phenomena than any other class. Traditional emphasis has been on optimizing desired movement trajectories while ignoring sensory feedback. Recent work has redefined optimality in terms of feedback control laws and focused on the mechanisms that generate behaviour online. This approach has allowed researchers to fit previously unrelated concepts and observations into what may become a unified theoretical framework for interpreting motor function. At the heart of the framework is the relationship between high-level goals, and the realtime sensorimotor control strategies most suitable for accomplishing those goals. However, the means by which these signals converge to produce an effective motor outcome is still not well understood. Muscle synergy can be a group of muscles that are active during the task. For example, the postural control study by Torres-Oviedo and Ting found that the set of multi-joint muscle synergies interactions between the hip, knee and ankle play an important role in postural control (Torres-Oviedo and Ting, 2007). Having examined activity at multiple joints and their associated muscles during different movements, they suggested that the synergy used is neuronally controlled and is based on the differing and often independent onset and duration of activity on these muscles (Ting, 2007).-Similar, fixed time associations amongst muscles within each muscle synergy has been reported too but using some very different mathematical tools (d'Avella et al., 2003), (Sartori et al., 2012).

Muscle synergies can be used in rehabilitation approaches, either to support or to inhibit the use of basic movement patterns. This may offer the clinician an ability to target the source of the drive and its modulation from within the neural structures underlying motor behaviours; thus a better handle for affecting the motor deficits and thus rehabilitation. Improved diagnosis would lead to more personalised treatment of a patient's deficits (Safavynia et al., 2011).

1.8 Hypothesis

The clinical tests are used as the task in this thesis to better understand muscle interaction and to improve clinical scales, such as the modified Ashworth scale, (scoring system) in the future. In physiotherapy clinics, lower limb assessment makes use of both isometric and dynamic tasks, and clinicians normally select tests based on anatomical fundamentals, like muscle origin and insertion. However, both the position and the interaction of multiple muscles have been ignored. At the knee, the single joint at the anterior of the knee is comprised of the three vasti of the quadriceps, with proximal origin only at the femur bone, so they act only in knee extension. At the posterior of the knee, the short head of the biceps femoris (which is difficult to palpate) and the popliteus are one joint muscle, and these two can only perform knee flexion. In terms of multi-joints, the rectus femoris is a two-joint muscle functioning in both hip flexion and knee extension, and at the posterior of the knee, there are the biceps femoris long head semitendinosus and semimembranosus (knee flexion and hip extension) and the gastrocnemius (knee flexion and ankle plantar flexion). Day (1987) stated that if the lower limb position changes, the sensory input may be shifted. Therefore in this thesis, it was speculated whether the muscle activity at varied knee flexion angles might have different outcomes or not (Day et al., 1987). Priliutsky and Zatsiorsky (2002) stated that bi-articular muscles perform multiple functions during the same task. This study hypothesised that bi-articular muscles, especially at the knee joint, are important for both static and dynamic tasks (Prilutsky and Zatsiorsky, 2002). The knee is the largest joint in the body, and it is important to control multiple tasks in the activities of daily life, especially walking and standing balance. This has been addressed in this thesis by testing the role played by the bi-articular muscles that control the knee during defined passive and dynamic tasks. According to Wolpaw (2007), motor adaptation involves the mechanisms of the brain and spinal cord. Dynamic standing balance training was used in one of the dynamic tasks, as it is associated with changes in spinal cord reflexes (Wolpaw, 2007b). It was expected in this study that the peripheral pathways might be involved in balance training, and that muscle around the knee may be affected after training.

1.9 Aims

1.9.1 Study 1: Role of bi-articular muscles during a passive task.

The role of the bi-articular muscles and their relative contributions were examined under two controlled but variant conditions: 1) knee extension angles, and 2) limb position in relation to the hip. Using EMG recorded across multiple muscles activity in the muscles was compared at four knee angles for two different positions, which were adapted or modified: 1) Fugl-Meyer, 2) Thomas test.

Study 2: Aim1 (2A): the role of the muscles at the knee during a dynamic balance task was examined using EMG and balance training technique.

Aim 2 (2B): An exploration of the use of training to observe improvement in the ability to use these muscles, to be developed for use in clinical settings for improved balance and posture. EMG combined with electrical stimulation techniques were used to exam the reflex changes using balance training.

Chapter 2 Quadriceps muscle compartments are not agonistic during a static isometric knee task

2.1 Introduction

In the clinic, isometric contraction is commonly used to assess lower limb strength (Wilson and Murphy, 1996). Especially, in the stroke rehabilitation ward, the knee control test is used to assess the knee performance such as knee joint extension muscle strength (van Deursen et al., 2017). If patients can flex or extend the knee at good grade (full range of motion of knee extension and against gravity), then they can be discharged from the hospital (Perry et al., 1986). This is most commonly used to assess the power of quadriceps muscle. An isometric contraction is one where there is no movement at the joint with the muscle contraction. However, there is an obvious lack in the literature of a standard operating angle for these tests or corresponding details on what happens at the knee in normal subjects during these tests. To perform the muscle output, there are two main inputs integrated within the spinal cord 1) from the cortex called supraspinal control e.g. Corticospinal tract and 2) peripheral sensory input like from the muscle spindle (Lemon, 2008, Dum and Strick, 2005, Brouwer and Ashby, 1992b). In addition, in 1983, Day & Rothwell stated that lower limb positioning can lead to peripheral input alteration (Day et al., 1983). Therefore, if peripheral input changes, muscle output could be altered. One of muscle output problem is lower limb spasticity. Knee muscle spasticity affects about a third of the patients leading to lower limb mobility issues (Martin et al., 2014). The groups of muscles, which can contribute to the spasticity, have not clearly been understood yet (d'Avella et al., 2003). This may be best achieved by first exploring, the organisation and governing principles of interactions amongst these muscles of the upper leg, in the very positions where they are clinically assessed in patients. Common clinical tests used are the knee control test in stroke rehab ward and the hip flexor lengthening Thomas's tests (Bohannon and Smith, 1987, Kendall and Kendall, 2005).

Anatomically, as suggested by the literature, Rectus femoris, Vastus lateralis, Vastus medialis and vastus intermediate are defined as knee extensor (Kendall and Kendall, 2005). Knee extension is the orientation of the leg in an anterior direction with the alignment of the thigh and lower leg at 0° for a full extension or extended at an angle if the thigh and lower leg are at a given angle. The extended

knee is in 0° position. Flexion, on the other hand, is a movement in the posterior direction, from the 0° position of extension, the range of knee flexion is approximately 140°. The hip should be flexed when measuring full knee joint flexion to avoid restriction of motion by the rectus femoris, but the joint should not be fully flexed when measuring knee joint extension to avoid restriction by the hamstring muscles. Assessment of their normal function might even lead to better stratification and thus improved therapy. Using a quantitative scoring based on surface electromyography (sEMG) might allow us to better apply the modified Ashworth scale (Bohannon and Smith, 1987). We may be able to better assess muscle activity and differentiate spasticity based on the activity of specific muscle groups and their likely neural source.

We have in this study, identified the recruitment of muscles that are acting as a group of muscles (synergy) across 2 distinct tasks that are based on the muscle strength and Thomas tests. We have examined the difference in the recruitment of the muscles, if there is between subjects and within muscles in the same subject, during a static task with identical isometric contractions of the major bifunctional muscle of the quadriceps, the Rectus femoris in healthy young participants. The 2 tests were used to crudely identify any difference that is introduced by the position of the tested leg and sensory feedback from the other leg in these static tasks.

Muscle synergies can be defined as muscles working together as a group (Turvey, 1990, Macpherson, 1988) or activation of a group of muscles to contribute to particular movement (Wojtara et al., 2014).

Taking this information together, I developed the hypothesis that the same set of muscle will interact differently when extending the knee under 2 conditions 1) angle 2) positioning. To assess the muscle activity, I utilize EMG from multiple muscles and then we compare it across 4 distinct angles which are further compared between the 2 positions adapted C1) Fugl-Meyer and C2) modified Thomas test.

2.2 Methods
¹Study design: This cross-sectional, single-blinded control trial study is designed for comparing the criterion the amplitude of the muscle activity among four angles of knee isometric contraction. Participants were allocated to different groups randomly to reduce any bias during the tests (Chalmers et al., 1981). The measurements were taken in the motor control laboratories of the centre for sports sciences, in the School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Leeds, UK. Participants: Healthy participants (n = 17, female =8) within the age of 18-30 (24.4± 2.57 years) without previous knee joint injury participated in the study. All participants were fully informed about the tests, and all gave their written, informed consent before participation. The study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of the University of Leeds (reference number BIOSCI 16-004). Participants were excluded if they reported 1) recently done exercise within 48 hours prior to testing 2) Knee stiffness, self-reported pain 3) Muscle or knee joint injury 4) Used recreational or performance-enhancing drugs 5) Ingested alcohol in the previous 24 hours 6) Unable to provide informed consent.

Task: Isometric knee extension (maximal voluntary effort) 6 x 5 sec per contraction with a 3min rest. EMGs were recorded from multiple knee muscles (Rectus Femoris, Vastus lateralis, Vastus medialis, Semitendinosus and Bicep femoris) at $(0^{\circ}, 20^{\circ}, 60^{\circ}, 90^{\circ})$ multiple angles of Range of motion (ROM).

Equipment/Tools: EMGs were recorded using the wireless sEMG sensors (Delsys TrignoTM system; at 1.9 kHz, the bandwidth of 20 to 450 Hz). The data were recorded directly onto a PC running Spike 2.8. version 10 (Cambridge Electronic Designed limited, (CED)) software using the Delsys talker (CED) for later offline processing and analysis. A medical stretcher trolley ($25^{*}x74^{*}x35^{*}$) for the subjects to lie on, during the tests. Physio clear plastic Goniometer angle ruler joint bend measure for measuring the knee flexion angles. Complete range of motion locking knee brace (DonjoyTM) to support the knee at fixed knee positions.

34

¹ Footnote: 1) In Fugl-Meyer (Fugl-Meyer et al., 1975), knee control test in stroke rehab ward: the knee control is tested for knee extensor strength which is graded into three grades (poor, fair and good). For example, if stroke patient can perform full range of motion of the extension task, then it will be good grade. 2) In Thomas test, the modified Thomas test is used for examining the flexibility of hip flexor such as iliopsoas and rectus femoris. If patients have normal length of the rectus femoris, the alignment of buttock, hip and knee will be straight on the bed. If they have shortening hip flexor, the hip flexor will raise up, not straight away Kendall and Kendall, 2005. Currently, the standard of the measurement was unclear yet because this test cannot tell us which muscle shows abnormal length (Kendall and Kendall, 2005, Harvey, 1998)

2.2.1 Electrode placements

The selected muscles and the recording sites were selected based on the SENIAM protocol (Pincivero et al., 2006b). Anatomical landmarks used to identify the muscles following the SENIAM guidelines (Pincivero et al., 2006b) and cadaveric observation as is summarised in table 1. For instance, the component of quadriceps, vastus lateralis (VL) - centred in the middle of the greater trochanter and the lateral epicondyle; vastus medialis (VM) - on the distal 1/5th of the muscle closed to the medial knee joint; rectus femoris (RF) - centred in the middle of the anterior superior iliac spine and the superior pole of the patella. The details for all muscles and their identification is presented in tables 2.1 and 2.2 (Pincivero et al., 2006a) and cadaveric observation as is summarised in table 1. For instance, the component of quadriceps, vastus lateralis (VL) - centred in the middle of the greater trochanter and the lateral epicondyle; vastus medialis (VM) - on the distal 1/5th of the muscle closed to the medial knee joint; rectus femoris (RF) - centred in the middle of the anterior superior iliac spine and the superior pole of the patella. The details for all muscles and their identification is presented in tables 1 and 2. (Rainoldi et al., 2004).

Prior to placement of sEMG electrodes, relevant skin areas were shaved, abraded with preparation gel (Nuprep, NRSign Inc., Canada), and the dead skin including oils and secretion of epidermis was cleaned with isopropyl alcohol, to reduce noise when recording EMG, (Merletti et al., 1998).

The electrode placement was verified in each subject by palpating the muscles and asking participants to perform a muscle contraction.

In addition, to minimise the crosstalk effect, EMG sensors were acquired with inter-electrode spacing ranging from 5 mm to 40 mm (Deluca et al, 2012). Crosstalk is the EMG signal detected from non-active muscle and generated by a nearby muscle. Therefore, crosstalk can be mistaken to originate from the muscle of interest. Several factors affect the level of crosstalk such as inter-electrode space, the thickness of subcutaneous tissue and EMG noise. Crosstalk is inherent in all surface EMG, and currently, there are no methods capable of eliminating EMG crosstalk. However, in my experiment, I used the inter-electrode space ranging from 10 mm to 40 mm to reduce the crosstalk effect.

Muscle Anterior view	Electrode position	Palpation and inspection		
Rectus femoris	P	When the hip is flexed, the tendon of origin may be observed and palpated in the V-shaped area between the Sartorius and the tensor fascia latae as seen.		
Vastus lateralis	P	The muscle may be seen and palpated from just below the greater trochanter shown to the patella.		
Vastus medialis		The distal portion of the muscle is bulky and is palpated in the lower third of the thigh medially.		
Tibialis anterior	P	The muscle is superficial throughout its path, it may be observed and palpated all the way from its origin to its insertion. The muscular portion of the tibia when the foot is dorsiflexed. Its tendon is palpated as it passes over the ankle where it rises considerably when the foot is dorsiflexed.		

Table 2-1 Shown above are electrode placement (blue - circular dot) on the anterior view lower limbs: the anterior upper leg muscles, which is composed of quadriceps muscles (rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis), and the anterior leg muscles perform ankle dorsiflexion (Tibialis anterior muscle) modified from -http://www.delsys.com/products/emg-auxiliary-sensors/trigno-im/). Abbreviations: P = Patella, T = Greater trochanter of femur, C = Calcaneus

Muscle	Electrode position	Palpation and inspection
Posterior view		
Biceps femoris		When knee flexion is resisted, the long head of biceps femoris may be observed and palpated from its origin all the way down to its insertion.
Semitendinosus		With the subject prone, the tendon may be observed and palpated posteriorly on the medial side of the knee. If the muscles of this medial side are then tightened without the joint movement, the semitendinosus rises markedly from the underlying tissue, the tendon in the back of the knee
Gastrocnemius (Medial side)		The muscular portion of the gastrocnemius may be seen contracting in resisted flexion of the knee. Medial gastrocnemius is seen medially contracting in rising on tiptoes.
Gastrocnemius (Lateral side)		The muscular portion of the gastrocnemius may be seen contracting in resisted flexion of the knee. Lateral gastrocnemius is seen laterally contracting in rising on tiptoes.
Soleus		Soleus is covered largely by the gastrocnemius, but in the lower portion of the calf, it bulges on both sides of the gastrocnemius. A comparatively isolated contraction of the soleus is obtained when plantar flexion is performed while the knee is flexed. The ankle against slight resistance.

Table 2-2 Shown are the electrode placements (blue dot) on the posterior view of the lower limb: the posterior upper leg muscles, components of Hamstring muscles (semitendinosus and bicep-femoris), and the ankle plantar flexor muscles (soleus, medial and lateral gastrocnemius modified from <u>http://www.delsys.com/products/emg-auxiliary-sensors/trigno-im/</u>);

Abbreviations: P = Patella, T= Greater trochanter of femur, C= Calcaneus

2.2.2 Procedures

For each session, the participants were introduced to electromyography (EMG) recording system and shown how to perform an isometric knee extension for the position presented (see below). The experiment was explained, and any questions or concerns answered. The electrodes were then, placed on various muscles to record from. Participants lay supine on the bed with the head, back and leg muscles being fully supported. To ensure the knee was supported we asked the participant to wear a knee brace.

Two Positions: Position (C 1) and Position 2 (C 2)



Figure 2-1 A representative angle of 90 ° is shown for either of the positions that the participants were tested. A position 1 (C1) - The participant is supine lying with both legs stretched forward with non-invasive sticky pads recording muscle activity from his dominant right leg. The right leg is supported at set angles (90 ° shown in the figure) using a knee brace. B. Position 2 (C2) - The participant is lying on the bed with the dominant right leg stretched forward, their foot resting on a platform such as the knee is bent through fixed angles (90 ° shown in the image), and while the non-dominant left leg is bent at knee to ensure that both hip and knee are flexed

C1 was adapted from the knee control test used in stroke rehabilitation ward and C2 adapted from the Thomas test for Hamstring lengthening test. The order in which the knee angles were presented for testing was randomised across participants. Overall, participants contracted their muscles at each angle for a total of 6 times, with each contraction lasting 5 seconds, with a 3-minute break between each contraction. Participants were asked to perform muscles contractions while lying in one of 2 positions in 2 independent sessions (the position not tested in session 1 would be tested in session 2).

For C1 as described in Figure 2.1A, the participants were supine lying on the bed with both legs stretched out in front, so at the start, the hip, knee and ankle are at 0 $^{\circ}$ to each other.

For C2 as shown in Figure 2.2 B, participants were supine lying on the bed with the dominant leg stretched forward with the foot resting on a platform with the knee supported at different angles, while the non-dominant leg was kept bent at the knee (the ankle was close to the gluteal area). This meant that the non-dominant leg was fully flexed at both hip and knee. In figure 5.2 we show the experimental position where the knee was supported at 90 °. The angle at the knee was always measured against the hip joint and the bony prominence on the outside of the ankle.

In both C1 and C2, the participant contracted their muscles at the back of the thigh of the right leg while the knee is placed at 1 of 4 different angles. at 0 $^{\circ}$ (foot extended, so straight at the knee), 20 $^{\circ}$ (knee is slightly bent with foot pointing away), 60 $^{\circ}$ (middle of the range of knee flexion), 90 $^{\circ}$ (foot is at a perpendicular to the hip regarding the knee).

I used RF to normalise their activity against as during the task they were all asked to activate RF voluntarily, to ensure RF was the most active muscle based on current literature.

The root-mean-square (RMS) of the evoked muscle activity was then calculated using Spike2.8. The data were analysed without applying any additional filters. Activity across muscles was normalised to that in RF, which was voluntarily activated by the participants at each angle in both tasks.

2.2.3 Comparison of the EMGs across subjects

Activity in multiple muscles is related to one another in terms of timing and strength of their activity, which can be defined using different analytical tools that are widely accepted (Babault et al., 2002). According to Deluca, (1997) before comparing the EMG data of individuals from different days, the EMG should be normalized.

The recorded EMGs in our study was normalised to the activity in the RF muscle, considered the primary muscle in terms of activity and involvement in the task decided prior to assessment of the interactions between the muscles in the same subject and comparison across subjects to distinguish temporal and spatial detail about interactions (Knikou, 2008).

We compared three outcome measures of the recorded sEMGs-across participants and conditions.

a. Amplitude and latency

The activity in a muscle was examined based on the root mean square of the EMG used as a measure of its activity, illustrated in figure 2.2. The root-mean-square (RMS) envelope of the EMG signal was calculated using a moving window 5 second/contraction method in spike2.8.



Figure 2-2 Demonstrate Root mean square (RMS) to assess muscle activity from raw EMG of muscle contraction, it was taken from isometric knee contraction. RMS was calculated area under the graph of six trials.

The RMS measures provide the best insight into the amplitude of the EMG signal since it gives a measure of the power of the signal too while producing a waveform that is easy to analyse (Farina et al., 2014).

To compare the similarity of muscle activity with respect to RF, crosscorrelation function was used.

I assessed muscle synergy pattern across four different knee angles and positions by using cross-correlations. The similarity of muscle activity based on their RMS was examined to define interactions by using cross-correlations (De Luca and Merletti, 1988). One of analysis for cross-correlation widely used to investigate the similarity of muscle activity of the pairs is waveform correlation (Chang et al., 2012, Nielsen, 2003) as available as a function in Spike2.

2.2.4 Statistical tools.

Multiple statistical means were used to examine to examine the possible interactions and correlations

Pearson's correlation: To examine similarity of muscle activity (from RMS outcome) amongst the muscles a Pearson's Product correlation was used. This type of correlation is measured using a correlation coefficient (r) with the range of correlation being from -1 to 1 (Pearson, 1920), giving a measure of the strength and direction of association that exists between the two continuous

variables; the muscle activity in the present study. Pearson's correlation attempts to draw a line of best fit through the data of two variables, and the Pearson correlation coefficient, *r*, indicates how far away all these data points are to this line of best fit (i.e., how well the data points fit this new model/line of best fit). Its value can range from -1 for a perfect negative linear relationship to +1 for a perfect positive linear relationship. A value of 0 (zero) indicates no relationship between the two variables (Zar, 1999).

Multivariate analysis

Multivariate analysis was used to identify relationships between activities across muscles. Cluster analysis - a multivariate technique which categorises a sample of subjects based on a set of measured variables into several different groups such that similar subjects are placed in the same group. In this thesis, Origin Pro 2016 8.0 version software is used to analyse the EMG data for cluster analysis. I have employed 2 forms of muscle activity classification tools similar to those previously used for gait and muscle synergy analysis (Krouchev et al., 2006) To identify the lowest dimensional changes and similarities across these muscles during the different tasks, hierarchical clustering and Principle component

Hierarchical clusters

analysis (PCA) is used.

Hierarchical clustering is commonly used in statistics for grouping data into 'clusters' that expose similarities or dissimilarities in the data. Hierarchical methods employ a precise definition of similarity, closeness and proximity of observations to group the data. Objects with the nearest values start in their own separate cluster and the two closest (most similar) clusters are then combined; this is done repeatedly until all participants are in clusters (Mardia et al., 1979). In the end, the best number of clusters is then chosen out of all cluster solutions. The steps for analysis are summarised below.

Step 1: Setting input

1) Select data for the Hierarchical Cluster Analysis.

Data in each column correspond to a variable. Five variables were chosen, as there were five muscles in this study (RF, VL, VM, ST, BF).

2) Cluster method setting: pairwise group averages was chosen for comparison and plotting.

Origin provides six methods (nearest neighbour, furthest, group average, centroid, median and ward) to calculate the distance between the new cluster

and other clusters. In study 1, group average is selected, because it is commonly used to calculate the mean of two distances between two things: a single original cluster and 2) a new cluster which was made by merging two clusters.

For the group average version of hierarchical clustering, the proximity of two clusters is defined as pairs of the average pairwise proximity between all pairs of points in the different clusters.

Let clusters *j* and *k* be merged as cluster *jk*. Let n_i , n_j and n_k be the number of objects in Cluster *i*, Cluster *j* and Cluster *k* respectively, and let d_{ij} , d_{ik} and d_{jk} be the distance between two clusters. The distance between Cluster *jk* and Cluster *i* $d_{i,jk}$ can then be calculated in the following equation:

$$d_{i,jk} = \frac{n_j}{n_j+n_k} d_{ij} + \frac{n_k}{n_j+n_k} d_{ik}$$

(https://www.originlab.com/doc/Origin-Help/HCA-Algorithm#Distance Matrix)

3) For variables that I am going to cluster, the correlation function is selected to calculate the difference between one variable and the correlation of two variables.

Step 2: Plotting group average dendrogram

The dendrogram plot is a hierarchical tree that shows the distance at which two clusters merge. Each stage is represented as a unit in the dendrogram. The top of the unit for each stage represents the new cluster created by the merging of two clusters. Its height corresponds to the distance between two merged clusters.

Principle component analysis (PCA)

The similarity of muscle synergies is commonly assessed by reducing the dimensionality of the data; PCA is used to identify the covariance amongst the multiple muscles, to establish the most common linear model that can explain the variance-covariance structure of a set of variables (Bolger et al., 2016). Determining this fact allows an experimenter to try and discriminate which combinations are important and which may be just redundant. We applied PCA to diminish the number of variables to assess the common muscle synergy used to control the knee. We identified the same muscles that were commonly used across participants. We used a custom script written in R to generate the PCAs for our dataset (Details of PCA analysis and R scripts (see Appendix)).

2.3 Results

			Synergies' Position 1 (C1)		Synergies' Position 2 (C2)					
NO.	subject	activity	0deg	20deg	60deg	90deg	0deg	20deg	60deg	90deg
1	AAD	cycling	٧М	∨м	√м	∨м	٧М	vм	VМ	٧М
2	AAG	cycling	BF	BF	BF	ST	٧М	ST	ST	ST
3	AAF	cycling	√м	BF	sт	sт	VL	sт	sт	sт
4	ААК	cycling	VL	VL	RF	RF	VL	BF	BF	BF
5	AAL	cycling	VL	BF	ST	RF	VL	RF	RF	RF
6	AAN	boxing	VL	VL	RF	RF	VL	BF	ST	BF
7	ААМ	boxing	VL	VL	VL	ST	VL	BF	VL	VL
8	AAO	cycling	VL	VL	VL	ST	VL	VL	ST	ST
9	AAC	rugby	VL	∨м	∨м	∨м	√М	٧М	VM	٧М
10	ΑΑΙ	walking	VL	BF	ST	ST	BF	ST	ST	ST
11	AAT	no activity	VL	BF	BF	∨м	∨м	BF	BF	BF
12	АВС	dancing	BF	VL	BF	BF	ST	٧М	ST	ST
13	AAE	cycling	VL	BF	ST	ST	VL	BF	BF	ST
14	ABD	walking	VL	BF	ST	ST	VL	VL	ST	ST
15	ABE	squashing	VL	VL	VL	RF	VL	VL	VL	VL
16	ABF	football	VL	VL	BF	BF	BF	BF	BF	VL
17	ААХ	walking	VL	VL	BF	ST	٧М	ST	ST	ST

2.3.1 Muscle activity (RMS)

Table 2-3 characteristic of the 17 participants showing gender, physical activities, and maximal muscle activity (RMS) of isometric knee extension on five muscles recording (RF,VL,VM,BF,ST) for two position C1 and C2

There were 17 participants in the two EMG sessions (positions 1 and 2). Table 2.3 and figure 2.3 present the muscles that had the maximal activity during the task in each participant across the 2 tasks, compared to that in RF. We classified

the data based on gender, and other details provided about their physical activities each undertook. In C1, at 0° and 20°, the activity in RF was not maximal in any of the participants, but it was in VL at 0° (13/17), and 20° (8/17). At 20°, BF had the second highest activity (7/17) and followed by VM (2/17). ST and BF were the most active the majority at 60° (5/17) and ST at 90° (8/17). In C2, at 0° the activity levels in RF were not maximal in any participants, but VL was at 0° (9/17) and VM (4/17). At 20°, BF was the maximal activity (6/17), followed by ST (4/17). At 60° and 90°, there was a similar pattern. At 60°, ST was the maximal activity (8/17) and BF (4/17). At 90°, ST was the maximal activity (8/17) and followed by BF (3/17).

Summary of the muscles with maximal activity for each position and angle amongst all the participants;

C1 0°: VL>VM>BF; 20°: VL>BF>VM; 60°: ST, BF>VL>VM, RF; 90°: ST>RF>VM>BF

C2 0°: VL>VM>BF>ST; 20°: BF> ST>VM, VL> RF; 60°: BF> ST>VM, VL> RF; 90°: ST> BF, VL>VM>RF

2.3.2 Cluster and grouping

I provided the two positions to compare the possible role of proprioceptive feedback in shaping the output of the muscles at the knee. I hypothesised that the proprioceptive drive from the ankle muscles of the same leg and that from the muscles of the left leg would affect the output of the muscles in use. I assumed 4 clusters at each angle as I worked on the assumption that the muscles are likely to be grouped along anatomical rules of pairing for each angle.

2.3.3 Hierarchical cluster analysis was used for classification of the activity in these muscles in both C1 and C2 at different angles across all subjects.

In figure 2.4, C1 0°, RF and VL were closest together. ST and BF are being similar but farther from the rest. VM was separated from RF and VL.

C1 20°, RF and VL were closest together. ST and BF were being similar but farther from the rest. ST and BF are farther than 0°. VM was separated from RF and VL but it was not too far when compared to 0°.

C1 60°, RF and VL were closest together. ST and BF were closest together. However, VM was separated, farther than the rest. C1 90°, VL and VM were closest together. ST and BF were closest together, but they both were further than VL, VM. RF was separated, farther than the rest. C2 0°, RF and VL were closest together. VM, ST and BF were standing separately. ST and BF were farther than the rest of them. ST and BF in C2 0° were the farthest when comparing among positions and knee flexion C2 20°, RF and VL were closest together. ST and BF were being similar but farther from the rest. ST and BF are farther than 0°. VM was separated from RF



Figure 2-4 Hierarchical cluster of positions 1 (C1) and 2 (C2) across 4 angles (0°, 20°, 60°, 90°) of knee flexion. Overview of muscle synergies, 5 muscles recording (RF, VL, VM, ST, BF) from 17 participants

and VL but it was not too far when compared to 0°.

C2 60°, VL and BF were closest together and they were closed to ST. RF was separated. VM was the farthest and standing alone.

C2 90°, RF and VL were closest together. And ST and BF were closest. However, VM is alone and was the farthest than the rest. Between the two positions (C1 and C2), C1 differed at 0°, 60°, 90°, from C2. However, C1 at 20° was like C2, but not the same. At 20°, ST and BF were farthest in C2 but not in C1.

2.3.4 The similarity of muscle activity

2.3.4.1 Pearson correlation's test

The results of the Pearson's test (figure 1.4) from 17 participants are summarised for the two positions across the angles tested (table 1.4), at 0° both positions have a similar pattern, though not the same. Most of the population in C1 and 2 showed a similar positive correlation between RF to VL and other three (VM, ST and BF) with the numbers 10/17 and 9/17, respectively. At 20°, C1 showed a different pattern from C2. The positive correlation between RF vs VL and RF vs VM at C1 was 5/17, but at C2 it was 12/17. It was noted that in C1, RF, VL and VM showed a negative correlation at 7/17. At 60°, C1 showed a different pattern from C2. C1 showed the highest number (9/17), with a negative correlation between the four paired muscles. In contrast, in C2, RF vs VL and RF vs VM had a positive correlation, though not for ST and BF (12/17). In addition, RF showed a negative correlation with BF and ST. At 90°, C1 showed a different pattern from C1 showed a negative correlation for RF to each of the four muscles at C2. 10/17. It was noted that in C2, RF correlated to VL and VM positively (9/17). In Pearson's correlation test (figure 4) described the results of the similar trend of the two positions.

At 0° (figure 2.5), both VL and VM, they were correlated positively in both positions with RF, but not correlated to ST and BF. At 20° (figure 2.6), C1 showed a different pattern to C2. In C1, there was a positive correlation between RF vs VL and RF vs VM, but not with ST and BF. In C2, RF had a strong positive correlation to VL- VM (r> 0.5), and RF was well correlated to ST, BF (r = 0.2, 0.3 respectively). At 60° (figure 2.7), C1 showed a different pattern from C2. C1 showed a positive correlation between RF and VL (r = 0.53). In contrast, in C2, RF vs VL were poorly correlated (r = 0.009).

At 90° (figure 2.8), C1 and 2 showed different patterns. In C1, VL was correlated to VM (r = 0.6). In C2, RF was not related to VL (r = 0.3), while VL was correlated to VM. Both positions had the same positive correlation of BF to ST (C1, r = 0.56 and C2, r = 0.57).

Knee	Participant	Pearson's correlation between				
angles	numbers	RF vs VL	RF vs VM	RF vs VM RF vs ST		
0° C1	<mark>10/17</mark>	<mark>+</mark>	<mark>+</mark>	+	+	
	4/17	+	+	-	-	
	1/17	-	-	+	+	
	1/17	-	-	+	-	
	1/17	-	-	-	-	
0° C2	<mark>9/17</mark>	+	+	+	+	
	5/17	+	+	-	-	
	3/17	-	-	-	-	
20° C1	4/17	+	+	+	+	
	5/17	+	+	-	-	
	<mark>7/17</mark>	-	-	-	×	
	1/17	-	-	-	-	
20° C2	<mark>12/17</mark>	+	+	-	-	
	5/17	-	-	-	-	
60° C1	3/17	+	+	+	+	
	5/17	+	+	-	-	
	<mark>9/17</mark>	-	•	-	-	
60° C2	3/17	+	+	+	+	
	<mark>12/17</mark>	<mark>+</mark>	+	-	-	
	2/17	-	-	-	-	
90° C1	1/17	+	+	+	+	
	1/17	+	+	+	-	
	5/17	+	+	-	-	
	<mark>10/17</mark>	-	-	-	•	
90° C2	5/17	+	+	+	+	
	<mark>9/17</mark>	+	+	-	-	
	3/17	-	-	-	x	

Table 2-4Summary of results from Pearson's correlation test. Overview of muscles synergies seen across the 17 participants for all angles in both positions (C1 and C2). The highest incidence amongst subjects at each angle and position is highlighted, + indicates positive correlation (r>0.05), - indicates negative correlation and x indicates no correlation



Figure 2-5 Pearson's correlation across 0° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2). Overview of muscle synergies from 17 subjects recorded across five muscles: RF, VL, VM, BF, ST, note that r value presenting the positive and negative correlation between the two muscle, for example RF-VL, RF-VM, RF-BF, RF-ST.



Figure 2-6 Pearson's correlation across 20° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2). Overview of muscle synergies from 17 subjects recorded across five muscles: RF, VL, VM, BF, ST, note that r value presenting the positive and negative correlation between the two muscle, for example RF-VL, RF-VM, RF-BF, RF-ST.



Figure 2-7 Pearson's correlation across 60° of knee flexion in two positions (C1 and C2). Overview of muscle synergies from 17 subjects recorded across five muscles: RF, VL, VM, BF, ST, note that r value presenting the positive and negative correlation between the two muscle, for example RF-VL, RF-VM, RF-BF, RF-ST





2.3.4.2 Principal component analysis (PCA)

As I have five synergist variables (RF, VL, VM, BF, ST), the principal component analysis was used to define the correlation among the five muscles activity (correlation above 0.5 is deemed important) (figure 2.9)

At 0°, C1, the first component was correlated with four variables (RF, VM, BF, ST). The second component (PC2) decreased with only one, decreasing VL. The third component (PC3) increased with only one, increasing ST. The PC3 decreased with VM. That was suggested that the more activity ST, the less activity of VM.

At 0°, C2, they were like PC1 of C1 by decreasing four variables (RF, VM, BF, ST). The second component (PC2), the variable direction differed from C1. PC2 increased with the only one variable, increasing VL activity. It was suggested that the more VL activity in C2. The third component (PC3 decreased with only one VM.

At 20°, C1, the first component PC1 was correlated with four variables (RF, VM, BF, ST) and they were like PC1 of C1 at 0°. The second component decreased with only one of five variables, increasing VL. The third component decreased with only ST.

At 20°, C2, the third component PC3 was the same as C1. The second component (PC2) increased with VL. The third component (PC3) decreased with only one of the five variables. decreasing ST. At 60° C1 and 90, ° C1 were presented in the same pattern across 3 components. The first component PC1 increased with all



Figure 2-9 Principle component analysis (PCA) demonstrating three types of muscle synergistic patterns which vary across the four angles (0 °,20 °,60 °,90°) of knee flexion in the two positions C1 and C2.

five variables (RF, VL, VM, BF, ST). The second component PC2 increased with only one variable, increasing ST. The third component PC3 decreased with only

53

one, decreasing VL activity.

At 60° and 90° in C2 were the same pattern across 3 components. The first component was correlated with five variables (RF, VL, VM, BF, ST). The second component PC2 increased with only VL. The third component PC3 decreased with only ST.

In terms of comparison between the two conditions (C1 and C2), only 20° showed similar patterns across 3 components. At 60° and 90° showed the same pattern of muscle synergies. PC2 and PC3 were stated that VL and ST played a role of high correlation.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Main finding

The output from result table 2.3 and figure 2.3: RF is not the primary muscle when performing knee isometric contraction.

The output from figure 2.4: Cluster analysis: Based on the literature, RF, VL and VM should act together as the knee extensor. However, having considered the results, in almost all cases, they are not working together, VL, VM is not the same group. Especially at 60 °, VM and VL play the role of knee flexors. At 90°, at C1 (10/17), RF is not related to VL, VM, ST or BF. In contrast, in C2, RF is related to VL, VM. In C2 (9/17), RF is related to VL, VM but not to ST, BF. Surprisingly, at 60°, the pattern is not as expected based on the gross anatomy of their origins and insertions. RF and VL are in the same cluster. ST and BF are in the same cluster. However, VM is not. VM is arranged separately and showed the most distance. Interestingly, at 60° in C1 and at 90° in C2 the patterns were similar: RF, VL, ST and BF were now in the same agonist cluster, but not VM. ST and BF are still in the same group. VM is not the knee extensor.

The output from table 2.4, comparing the 2 positions, they are almost the same at 0 $^{\circ}$.

Output figure 2.5 to 2.8, the details from Pearson's correlation tell us two things: 1) at 60 °, looking at the variable patterns of the cluster's behaviour we see that muscle synergy is flexible. 2) RF and VL are not in the same group.

Output figure 2.9, PCA analysis, there are three components of the muscle synergies pattern. To define the muscle activity, PC2 and PC3 can be suggested

that various patterns of muscle activity in 17 participants. For example, at 20 ° C1, PC2 increase only VL, but PC3 decrease only ST. That is suggested that the primary muscle in individual situations can have a different individual primary.

2.4.2 How this changes the original thinking

RF is not the primary muscle performing isometric knee contractions: bi-articular point of view.

Focusing on the highest muscle activity, we can see from the results of table 2.3 that Rectus femoris (RF) is not the primary muscle in knee extensions, while figure 2.3 shows that ST is the primary muscle. Therefore, the more knee flexion, the more ST activity. Table 2.3 and figure2.3, if RF is not primary, VL and VM should be the primary muscles. Based on the literature (Kendall and Kendall, 2005) RF is the primary muscle involved in performing knee extension; however, at greater knee angles, ST had the highest muscle activity (figure2.3) across all subjects. Using the RMS amplitude to observe each muscle' s activity in both positions at 90°, RF, VL and VM were showing the lowest activity, but ST the highest' the graph shows (figure 2.3), semitendinosus has the highest average for muscle activity among the five muscles (flexors and extensors), followed by the knee flexor.

RF, VL and VM is not the same group and they do not work together

Based on the literature (Kendall and Kendall, 2005), RF VL VM should act together as knee extensors; however, my results of the hierarchical cluster (figure 4), at 60 ° in C2 clearly shows that they work separately. At 60 ° position 1 & 90 ° position 2, it is similar: RF works with VL but not VM. At 90 ° in C1, VL correlates with VM but not RF (Nene et al., 2004).

Changing the understanding of anatomy: The quadriceps muscle is composed of RF, VL, VM (Sung et al., 2003, Kendall and Kendall, 2005), but my results suggest that this is not always the case. It depends on factors such as angles and positions. Nene and colleagues suggested the quadriceps femoris should have only VM, VI and VL, but not RF. From studies of both needle and surface EMGs, they stated that it is time to call it triceps femoris instead because RF does not work together with the other three (vastus lateralis, vastus medialis and vastus intermediate) (Nene et al., 2004).

Prilutsky and Zatsiorsky stated that there are three assumptions regarding the synergist pattern: the anatomy, the biomechanics and the task, (Prilutsky and

Zatsiorsky, 2002). In the 19th century, the two-joint muscle was difficult to assess, which is why people have taken the rectus femoris for granted as the anatomical agonist in knee extension. Because the rectus femoris is placed on the anterior of the femur bone, its function should be knee extension by anatomical placement. After the 19th century, biomechanical researchers suggested that the torque and moment of the joint draw the knee function into paradoxical action (Kamper et al., 2002). The moment of the knee has been divided into four quadrants: the upper two quadrants are to do with hip flexion, and the lower two to do with the momentum of knee extension. Therefore, the bicep femoris was situated in the upper left; however, the rectus femoris was in both the lower right and the upper right quadrants. Using studies of the torque moment, RF was defined as both knee extensors and hip flexors, (Dostal and Andrews, 1981). Later, Jacobs and Van Ingen Schenau suggested that the "knee extensor muscle depends on function or task", after applying different forces to patella and distal quadriceps on 12 cadavers, measuring the pressure on the patellofemoral joint or Q angle in 4 different angles of knee flexion (20°, 30°, 60°, 90°), (Jacobs and van Ingen Schenau, 1992). The ratio of the pressure of the lateral side and the medial side of quadriceps are different at 30°The knee extensors and the flexors cannot be defined anatomically, but task dependent

VM and VL play the role of knee flexors, especially at 60 °. This changes the anatomy theory because the flexors are said to be semitendinosus and biceps femoris, (Kendall and Kendall, 2005), but my results show they are not always knee flexors.

Tasks demonstrate neuromuscular activation depending on the tasks (hip flexion, knee extension). Since the femoral nerve divided into two branches, proximal and distal, it could be that the proximal branch controls the hip, and the distal branch controls the knee, (Haffajee et al., 1972, Aagaard et al., 2000, Yang et al., 2013). Suzuki and colleagues studied EMG activity and the kinematics of human cycling movement at different constant velocities, and they concluded that the RF is not a quadriceps muscles,(Suzuki et al., 1982).

In VM RF VL isometric knee extension with seated position and using intramuscular needle EMG, VM comes to the final phase of knee extension (Miyamoto et al., 2012).

RF vs VL is not in the same group as the muscle synergy, especially at 60°. It might have some collateral branch form RF afferent input drives to the

interneuron of VL and VM as the same action to ST and BF (Bayoumi and Ashby, 1989).

ST is the primary muscle at 60°, which is explained by neural mechanism support. It might be the lb stretching, (PierrotDeseilligny and Burke, 2012).

2.4.3 Flexible synergies, not fixed synergies: Proprioceptive > biomechanics > anatomy

RF, VM and VL do not work together at some angles (figure 2.4). Tables 2.4 and table 2.5 show us why we must distinguish flexible and fixed synergies. Comparing the 2 positions, at 20°, the positions are similar, while at 0°, 60° and 90° the two positions are different. However, once we look at the detail of individual subjects, at 0°, where we expect to see the same pattern, the two positions are different.

A+ 20		
Al 20 °,	Comparison of the synergies using PCA	Knee angles (C1 and C2)
both	Different	0 °
C1	Similar	20 °
and		
C2	Different	60 °
nad	Different	90 °

Table 2-5 Summarise PCA results from comparison of the synergiesclassified using PCA between C1 and C2 at varying angles. At20 ° the synergies identified were similar for both c1 and c2.

similar synergistic patterns of muscle activity, suggesting the sensory feedback from the non-dominant leg did not affect the dominant leg during the static isometric contraction of the knee flexed at 20°. This has significance in a clinical environment, suggests that ensuring the knee is flexed at 20° in either the modified Thomas test (c1) or the muscle strength test (c2) gives the most accurate measure of quadriceps muscle activity. In addition, the results suggest the qualitative score concerning their muscle strength like the Manual muscle testing (MMT), is largely defined by the task and is not uniform, thus requiring the protocol needs standardisation if it is used to make clinical and therapeutic decisions. Similarly, our findings suggest that if a clinician was interested in measuring the muscle strength of the semitendinosus muscle in an isometric contraction, having the knee bent at 60° or 90° would be appropriate in either of the 2 positions used for these tests. It is worth noting that in position C2 influence of sensory feedback from the other side is seen at 0°, 60° and 90°.

Many physiologists state that "isometric contraction should have all muscles coact together" (Babault et al., 2003), but my results show clearly that this is not the case. It is good to use as an isometric model to convince biomechanics view. In my results for 0°, we expected to see the same pattern of muscle synergies, however, the PCA analysis shows that there are different patterns of muscle synergies across subjects in the two positions. Therefore, it is suspected that more of a neural mechanism is involved. I use this isometric task to answer the neural mechanism question because lower limb proprioceptive might be changed when the position of the lower limb is shifted (Marsden et al., 2000). Based on anatomical evidence and expected neural interactions, Kendall and Kendall predicted that at 0° in both positions, the same subject, if not all, should exhibit co-contraction of all muscles across every joint, (Kendall and Kendall, 2005). This ought to be improved further as the subject is asked to voluntarily contract the rectus femoris muscle alone. Instead, we find the same subject using different strategies to maintain the leg in position for both positions, the only distinguishing feature being the other leg folded back. This might suggest the proprioceptive feedback plays a role in defining the active synergy and not merely motor primitives that have been recruited centrally. Excitatory afferent inputs play a key role in muscle synergies (Burke et al., 1978). We need to further study the feedback from the other leg by recording from muscles of both legs.

The theory of fixed synergies should be changed, as individual subjects do not always have the same patterns of muscle synergies, and there can, therefore, be flexible synergies. Based on anatomy literature and the idea of fixed synergies (Macpherson, 1988), one assumes the flexors and extensors will always maintain their relationship. So, the hypothesis will instead be that "the muscles interact similarly across all angles". This was assumed under passive examination (Avela et al., 1999). Flexible synergies suggest the best synergy required is chosen while fixed suggests at a given angle always the synergy of choice will be the same.

2.4.4 Possible mechanisms

In both conditions C1 and C2 in study 1, the primary input controlling the drive to the rectus femoris muscle was the same, as participants voluntarily contracted the muscle as best, they could. Therefore, the cortical control was defined for RF while the peripheral inputs to the spinal cord were varied, my results show that these inputs from the periphery were enough to modify the muscle interactions. Although, it was not examined explicitly if there was any change in length of the muscle in these tasks one can speculate based on previously published work, that there may be an increased sensory drive from the muscle tendons at the knee(Day et al., 1984, Day et al., 1983) at greater knee flexion of 60° and 90°. This could be the cause of the alteration of the interactions leading to ST and BF being more active than the expected muscles of the Quadriceps, possibly via the reciprocal inhibitory networks. This study 1 also sought to investigate if sensory information from the non-dominant leg influences the dominant leg during an isometric contraction. To do this, we examined the effect of sensory input in 2 positions (C1 and C2). At 60°, the muscles of the quadriceps, VM, VL and RF of the contracted leg acted independent of each other. It can be interpreted that VM, VL and RF were working separately. The more synergies active in knee flexion are therefore dependent on the degree of knee flexion and not the anatomical positions of the muscles.

The angles at which the knee was held, although similar between C1 and C2, had different interactions with the Hip, knee and ankle positions. The similarity and differences between them were examined using PCA as described in table 2.5.

2.4.5 Clinical implication

Recommendations for the clinical muscle test guidelines and improving gross motor function (Chang et al., 2017).

Clinically, this is critical, as the expected outcome of muscle testing is essentially task dependent. As an example, in clinical support, in a stroke rehabilitation ward knee control is used to test lower limb ability, with slight knee flexion and asking patients to move the quadriceps. We take the quadriceps for granted for knee extension, according to the anatomical view, but we do not know the interactions within the quadriceps itself. These findings are extremely important as they suggest that when clinicians conduct these basic tests, they ought to be aware of the angle used for these measurements, and not assume the outcomes based on anatomical knowledge. These synergies, once better defined, will provide comprehensive details about all muscles involved in knee function, thus ensuring

more informed decision-making moving towards more personalised therapy. This, in turn, will lead to better functional outcomes and an improved quality of life.

2.4.6 Recommendations for MVC standards

The positioning in the lower limb is important to set up the MVE, but there are few defined standards. Now, we could suggest MVE testing for various purposes. If you wanted to measure the muscle synergy of the knee extensor, you should use 0° and 20° If you want to test the difference in muscle pattern, 60° is the best suggestion. One drawback of maximal voluntary effort and contraction is that it requires the full range of motion and muscle strength; however, some patients are not able to achieve the maximal force due to pain and swelling. Therefore, MVE can be used in both healthy adult participants and patients. Generally, researchers use MVC; however, MVE was used in this study to ensure force feedback did not corrupt the muscle interactions. As Merton suggested, the term 'effort' is used to define a maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), and removal of the force acting at the joint when they are making the effort should not eliminate any form of force feedback to the muscle that would modify the proprioceptive feedback (Merton, 1954).

In my study, I asked participants to do isometric contraction without resistance. Had I conducted the experiment with resistance, proprioceptive feedback might have had a stronger influence than without resistance. Bishop et al (2018) studied the index of gluteus medius and maximus and tensor fascia latae during a therapeutic exercise with and without elastic resistance. The isometric exercise with resistance increased the activation of the gluteus maximus, gluteus medius to greater than index during the isometric without resistance. It was possible that a heavier resistance may have generated a greater activation of these muscles compared to the activation observed when performing the exercises without resistance (Bishop et al., 2018).

How does this demonstrate the influence of proprioceptive feedback?

To assist in muscle contraction, maximize motor control and assist movement awareness, which leads to an increase in muscle response to the cortex. These stimulated to the cortical region will depend on the intensity of resistance, such as the greater the resistance, the greater the stimulus, noting that this resistance has to be enough movement occurs smoothly and coordinated, causing no pain or fatigue to patients. (Nelson et al., 1986). In terms of the more cortical input, the muscle activity output and proprioceptive feedback could be shifted.

Recommendations for prosthetics

After below-knee amputation, muscle synergy may be shifted. Therefore, the socket of prosthetic could not be fitted the amputee. To solve this problem, if we know the pattern muscle synergies at varied knee angles, we can modify the prosthetic by adapting to the synergies

Recommendations for the knee control position

We do not have a standard knee position for achieving isometric voluntary control. This study aimed to use applied knee control in stroke rehabilitation wards, measure the MVE at varied angles (0°, 20°, 60° and 90°), and compare the knee extensor tasks. The idea behind this is to use the positions from the clinic, such as what stroke and orthopaedic wards use for testing: 0° = straight leg = control; 20° = slightly flex (used in the case of knee stiffness) 60° = normal angle for sports science set up for Biodex; 90° = function for walking upstairs (in the clinic, if patients can perform 90°, they can be discharged).

C1	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle
0 °	VL	VM	RF	ST	BF
20 °	VL	VM	RF	BF	ST
60 °	ST	BF	VL	RF	VM
90 °	ST	BF	VM	VL	RF

C2	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle	Muscle
0 °	VL	VM	RF	ST	BF
20 °	VL	VM	RF	BF	ST
60 °	ST	BF	RF	VL	VM
90 °	ST	BF	VL	RF	VM

Figure 2-10 Diagram of muscle synergies of the two positions (C1 and C2) in different four angles. Colour code – red – are muscle synergies with highest correlation to knee extension task, pink – are agonists, blue – Antagonists – antagonists to Quadriceps.

2.5 Conclusions

To conclude (figure 2.10), the main finding is that RF is not the primary muscle. At higher degrees, semitendinosus and biceps femoris were showed to be agonistic in the knee extensor. So, I suspect the Ib input from rectus femoris is related to semitendinosus via the excitatory interneuron in the spinal cord. In terms of future direction, we will apply electrical stimulation to see how muscle made for clinical guidelines that muscle testing cannot rely on the anatomical view alone, but tasks must also be considered. Balance is important to stabilise the posture to prevent falling. We need adequate balance and postural control to perform any activities; for example, sit-to-stand, stand-to-walk and walking (Shumway-Cook et al., 2003). Postural control is a neurological loop consisting of the motor, the sensory and the integrative process used to maintain the body's position relative to gravity and of its body segment. And balance is a hallmark of postural control relies information from both motor and sensory (Alexandrov et al., 2001, Horak et al., 1997), Balance is related to the inertial force acting on the body and the inertial character of body segments (Winter, 1987, Winter et al., 1993) (Winter, 1995). Balance is divisible into two categories: static and dynamic balance. In this chapter, I will focus on dynamic balance which is useful for rehabilitation. Because dynamic balance will be trained before patients go walking confidently. To make them confident, we train patients with dynamic balance. During balance training, it is suggested that sensory integration occurs between the visual, vestibular and proprioceptive systems. Currently, dynamic balance called hypnotherapy or horses riding is widely used to improve proprioceptive function in cerebral palsy children (Moraes et al., 2016). The proprioceptive function can play a role to improve the balance function (Alonso et al., 2011).

The dynamic balance test is commonly used in the clinic to assess the ability of trunk, lower limbs and training is used for improving mobility. This information is subsequently used to make decisions about appropriate rehabilitation strategies (Horak et al., 1997, Gauchard et al., 2010). Therapists often use dynamic balance tests to assess muscle activity (Bohannon, 2007), or recruitment of muscle synergies (Cheng, 2016) in the lower limbs. During these dynamic balance tests, it is accepted that the anatomical location of the muscle underpins any muscle activity, or muscle synergy observed (Torres-Oviedo and Ting, 2007). For example, at the knee joint it is the agonist-antagonist interaction between the flexors (semitendinosus (ST) and bicep femoris (BF)) and extensors (rectus femoris (RF), vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM) and vastus intermedius (VI); together with the ankle dorsiflexor (tibialis anterior (TA)), and plantar flexor (soleus (SL), lateral gastrocnemius (LG) and medial gastrocnemius (MG), that aid the maintenance of an upright posture (Taube et al., 2008b). (Horak et al.,

1997, Gauchard et al., 2010).

Rehabilitation is a complex interplay between muscles synergies, and that there is a dearth of literature about these particularly with respect to the hip and knee (Alexandrov et al., 2001). Therefore, this chapter will examine this and hopes to provide new data which might act as a platform for future research to investigate this further and/or in a clinical rehabilitation context.

3.1 Methods

3.1.1 Participants

Twenty-five participants volunteered to take part in the study. However, 3 participants' data were excluded from the analysis because EMG recording (Trigno wireless) system was error thus only data from 22 participants were analysed (26.23yrs± 4.69; F= 9). Exclusion criteria included (1) history of a neurological disorder that would affect motor coordination (2) use of prescription medication (3) recent illness or viral infection (within the last two weeks) (4) use of recreational or performance enhancing drugs (5) ingestion of alcohol in the previous 24 hours (6) history of anaemia, asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, family history of sudden death, fainting, heart disease, high blood pressure, respiratory disease, muscle or joint injury (7) Inability to provide informed consent or understand English (8) current pregnancy. (10) any current musculoskeletal injury. All experiments were carried out as per the guidance in BIOSCI 16-003, from the local human ethics committee at Leeds.

3.1.2 Task and Procedure



Figure 3-1 Procedure of the experiment A) MVC plantar flexion focusing on soleus on Biodex, B) participant was standing on balance board (stable phase) C) participant was on balance board (unstable phase)

3.2.2.1 MVC: Soleus maximal voluntary contraction

Since the soleus is the muscle that is presumed to be the primary muscle involved in the activity on the balance board (Di Giulio et al., 2009), we chose to establish its baseline maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) in each participant during an isometric task. The participant was seated, with the knee flexed at 60 °) (figure 3.1). Participants sat on the Biodex chair with body support with the right foot on the foot support, the MVC generated was measured and their EMG was recorded to provide visual feedback. Participants performed isometric plantar flexion for 5 seconds / trial for 5 trials with a second's rest between contractions.

I ensured that the position was suitable for obtaining MVC of soleus muscle alone and not the gastrocnemius. The MVC was also recorded before and after balance training to assess fatigue in line with Alonso and colleagues (Alonso et al., 2011). Given data from Bloem and colleagues stated that both legs produce the same output when working to control postural balance (Bloem et al., 2002), I focussed on muscles of the right leg alone.

3.1.2.2 Dynamic balance board task

During the dynamic task, the aim was to keep the platform about its a central pivot (stabilometer), level as close to horizontal as possible, while receiving no feedback about how to do so. A stable platform was defined stable phase by 30 % (Brouwer et al., 2019) of the total deflection either side of the pivot (figure 3.1 B and 3.3 A). An unstable platform was defined by over 30%. All participants completed 14 trials in all (2 x pre-training, 10 x training and 2 x post-training). Each trial lasted 30 seconds with a 60s rest between trials, and 5-minute rest between trial 2 and 3, and trial 12 and 13. sEMG activity was recorded from the leg muscles, the Rectus Femoris, Vastus lateralis, Semitendinosus, Biceps femoris, Tibialis anterior, Soleus, Medial gastrocnemius, and Lateral gastrocnemius (see table 1 in methods section chapter 2)

3.1.3 Analysis

All EMG activity was measured as an average of their RMS activity and duration (see methods section chapter2) across the 5 trials during soleus MVC and balance task.

3.1.3.1 Frequency analysis to define fatigue

In the dynamic balance study, participants were asked to complete a dynamic exercise using the soleus muscle frequency analysis of the sEMG was analysed to ensure the participants had not become fatigued. This is important given that fatigue can affect the performance of the individual leading to potentially confounding muscle activity with fatigue. Why be concerned about fatigue? Fatigue is a natural physiologic response to exercise that describes the deadline



Figure 3-2 Frequency measures to assess fatigue An example of H7 frequency analysis (FFT2045) to assess central fatigue of SL and MG: A) pre-training MVC for SL and MG that continue to 400 Hz (represent non-fatigue) B) post-training MVC for SL and MG that being not changed from the pre-training, so they represented non-fatigue.

work output associated with the repetitive activity. Fatigue is typically attributed to neural or muscular origins (Gandevia, 2001; MacIntosh & Rassier, 2002). Neuromuscular fatigue has been defined as a progressive reduction in the ability of a muscle to produce power or force. Fatigue can reduce muscle contraction by inhibiting neural conduction from the central nervous system (CNS). It can also decrease proprioception in the musculature (Gandevia, 2001).

In these experiments, I avoid fatigue as I wanted participants to continue doing the exercise of dynamic standing for 60-90 minutes. In addition, I did not want fatigue resulting in decreased proprioception, as muscle fatigue has been shown to alter joint proprioception (Voight *et al* 1996). Voight and colleagues studied shoulder joint fatigue and related it to proprioception by using passive internal and external rotation of shoulder on the BIODEX machine. They found that the range of motion of the joint was significantly decreased with fatigue. In addition, Skinner et al (1986) reported a decrease in knee proprioception, with a 15% decrease of knee flexion and extension work output after general fatigue load. In our study, if the participant has fatigue conditions, their muscles responsible for balance might have a different output due to the shift of proprioceptive input.

We assessed fatigue in soleus (SL) as it is suggested in the literature that SL played an important role towards control of balance. If participants perform balance exercise for 90 minutes in the same session, they may be fatigued. There are a few shreds of evidence to support the standard position and duration of resting position between active isometric contractions. The standing position may result in muscle fatigue (central fatigue) due to actions of gravity on their own body mass. In this new protocol, I used a seated position using maximal voluntary effort and electromyography technique to examine the presence of fatigue during balance training. This procedure eliminates the likely role of central fatigue because no gravity was involved, and a minute rest was enough to achieve MVC without fatigue, as shown by the power spectra of the SL muscle, based on the tail-off frequency (Komi and Tesch 1985). Power spectral analysis has been used to ensure lack of central fatigue (neuromuscular fatigue). Fatigue, a decrease in the median frequency slope of EMG spectral power is associated with muscle fatigue. If the tail of the power spectra (frequency analysis) does not abruptly decline, it means that there is no evidence of fatigue. For instance, Fujisawa et al (2017) studied quadriceps muscle fatigue and change in surface EMG spectral power during dynamic knee extension contraction. They recorded EMG from Vastus lateralis (VL) and Vastus medialis (VM) and asked participants to perform knee dynamic contraction on the Biodex chair for 1s x 30 repetitions. They later monitored fatigue by using median frequency analysis. They reported a significant decrease in median frequency in VL of male volunteers, but not for the VM. Based on these, I applied power spectral analysis to assess fatigues in this study. If participants exhibited fatigue, I did not use their balance board data to further analysis. Frequency analysis of the EMG uses a Fourier transform function to transform the time domain of recorded muscle to the frequency domain. Non-Fatigue can be observed by tail off that can be seen until 400 Hz frequency or without shifting abruptly (Komi and Tesch, 1979). Figure 3.2 showed the frequency analysis to define fatigue as we found that there was non-fatigue in our procedure.

3.1.3.2 Waveform correlation

The activity of the muscles was calculated and compared with the position of the stabilometer that figure 3.3 showed an example waveform of the balance board, SL and RF activity, measured in degrees of change from the baseline. The stabilometer was defined as stable if the balance board was held close to the baseline for at least 2 secs of the bout. The stable and unstable phases were subsequently classified into eight sub-phases 1) Stable peak minus 2) Stable peak positive 3) Stable trough minus 4) Stable trough positive 5) Unstable peak minus 6) Unstable trough minus 7) Unstable trough positive 8) Unstable peak positive.

Activity in the recorded muscles associated with these positions was then compared with the position of the stabilometer, using waveform correlation (100 bins, duration of the time domain = 50 ms) in spike 2.82. To examine the muscle activity correlative to the board on both stable and unstable phases, a waveform correlation was used to compare the activity in these muscles to that of the stabilometer and then applied to the co-efficiency correlation and onset to peak of the muscle activity. The balance board channel was used as the reference to compare the correlation to recording muscles. For further analysis, we processed the data, with the balance board channel interpolated to 2kHz to enable comparison with the muscle recordings using time window of -50ms to +50ms from the peak of activity of the balance board position. This was to examine the peripheral and short latency reflexes alone. Then, using R script performed by Gareth York to define the maximal correlation co-efficiency and maximal duration along onset (0 seconds) to peak (see figure 3.3).

To interpret the stable and unstable balance, it was suggested that 1) Stable balance: muscle active to maintain balance 2) Unstable balance: Muscles try to recover balance.

The details of the analysis were given in figure 3.3 to demonstrate how I capture the 3 seconds for stable and unstable phases.

In my study, balance board data (virtual channel V5 Stab) is calibrated to read

the degree of deviation from 0 $^{\circ}$ to 16 $^{\circ}$ (maximum) and 0 $^{\circ}$ to -16 $^{\circ}$. The data was visually split into three parts to help classify the data.

The protocol and associated figures are presented below.

Step 1: Choose the 30-second window and position the vertical cursor

1.1 Go to the stabilometer channel for balance board data (virtual channel V5 Stab degree) to examine the 30-second window and set the baseline at 0 $^{\circ}$ (0%). The balance board is set to a degree of deviation from 0 $^{\circ}$ to 16 $^{\circ}$ (maximum) and 0 $^{\circ}$ to -16 $^{\circ}$.

1.2 Position the horizontal cursor between -5° to $+5^{\circ}$ to capture the stable phase. Stable phase is defined as a participant maintaining the balance board at about 0 to 30% of baseline and 0 to -30% of baseline. Again, set the horizontal cursors between 5° to 16° (above 30%) and -5° to -16° (below -30%) to capture the



Figure 3-3 Raw image of the capture screen. Shown are all the recorded channels during the task, the very top trace was a virtual channel setup to record activity of the balance board. A portion of this has been presented in more detail under.

unstable phase.
1.3 Position the vertical cursors by using 3-second periods of time to define stable and unstable phases. For 3 seconds, onset is defined as cursor1, while offset is



Figure 3.3 B Details of balance board analysis

defined as cursor 2.

Step 2. Comparing activity between the stable and unstable phases of balance board.

2.1 Position cursors 1 and 2 manually (stable phase: red)

2.2 Position cursors 1 and 2 manually on the raw signal of the balance board and demonstrate raw EMG SL and RF.

Step 3. The activity of the muscles was correlated with that of balance board over \pm 50 ms from the peak position of balance board (0).3. Run spike 2.82 using the waveform correlation function and select balance board as a reference.

3.1. Select the period by 3 seconds as cursors 1 and 2 have been selected3.2 Run the waveform correlation function using cursors 1 and 2 as the window

of time and choose the balance board channel as the reference

3.3 activity across the eight muscles was correlated to that of the balance board, by using waveform correlations. If muscle activity was below baseline(negative), it meant the muscle was active prior to the activity of the balance board. If the muscle was active above baseline(positive), it meant that the muscle was active after the balance board.

Step 4. Find the peak of activity for the balance board position.

4.1 Position the horizontal cursor (blue) to define the highest peak of balance activity to examine the peripheral and short latency reflexes alone.

4.2 Position the vertical cursor (black) to define the onset to peak (ms) and the maximal correlation co-efficiency (mV).



Figure 3.3C Details of analysis including Phases of balance board and activity in RF and SL demonstrating the stabilometer waveform and the procedure for cut-off of stable balance and unstable balance

4.3 Transport data to the spreadsheet to plot a graph for both pre-training and

post-training.

Time duration: Onset to peak

Using waveform correlation, the peak of each muscle activity and stabilometer were calculated. Minus value (figure 3.3D) meant that the muscle time to peak occurred before the balance board and the positive peak value represented the muscle being active after the onset of the balance board. Time-lag such as the period between two closely related events (balance board event and response of the muscles, 50 to +50 ms were used to identify the time duration related to short-latency reflexes (see chapter 1 introduction). The activity of muscles was correlated with that of balance board over \pm 50 ms from the peak position of balance board (0).



Figure 3.3D protocol for analysis of the data obtained using balance board along with distinction of activity phase. The figure shows the activity of the balance board and the muscles RF and SL. demonstrating the stabilometer waveform and the procedure for cut-off of stable balance and unstable balance.

Dependent variables and statistical analysis

Description of all analysis was calculated as the mean and standard error of the mean (\pm SEM). To investigate the difference between the group muscles and prepost-training conditions, two-way ANOVAs were performed. When a significant difference was found (p<0.05), means were compared post hoc using Turkey's test.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Maximal voluntary contractions: Normalisation MVC

Based on the pre-training soleus (SL) MVC, participants were categorized into two groups: Group 1: SL activity was greater than MG activity (n=14; see figure 3.4A), Group 2: MG activity was greater than SL activity (n=8, see figure 3.4B). In group1, participants had the highest activity level in the SL at 0.11mV (0.11



Figure 3-4 Normalisation of muscle activity to that of SL during MVC. Activity during plantar flexion MVC (mean \pm SEM) recording from eight muscles SL, MG, LG, RF, VL, ST, BF and TA. A) Represents group1 (n=14) and B) represents Group2 (n=8). * indicates p<0.05, ** indicates p<0.01 and *** p<0.001

mV±0.03), with MG activity about 0.07 mV±0.02 (pre-training) and 0.08 mV ±0.02 (post-training). In figure 3.4 A, in group 1, normalisation muscle activity relative to SL, SL activity had the highest ratio (1±0). MG relative to SL (ratio) was 0.8 ± 0.04 and VL ratio was 0.731 ± 0.061. In group 1, the overall data showed that there were no changes between pre and post-training (F (1,1046) =0.21, p=0.08); however, there was a difference between muscle groups (F (7,1046) = 0.54, p= 0.00001). In pre and post-training condition, SL activity was higher than LG, RF, VL, ST, BF and TA significantly (p<0.001) and SL activity was higher than MG significantly (p<0.001). In pre and post-training condition, MG activity was higher than VL (p<0.01). LG was significantly higher than RF, ST and BF (p<0.001) (See figure 3.4 A).

In Group 2 for pre-training and post-training, MG activity (0.105 mV±0.02) was higher than SL (0.057 mV±0.01). In terms of muscle activity relative to SL in Group 2, MG showed the highest activity (pre-training 1.942 ± 0.204, post-training 1.6906 ± 0.160) (Figure 3.4 B).There were changes with training (F (1,615) = 3.961, p=0.047) as well as a significant difference between means for muscle activity (F (7, 615) = 37.474, p=0.00001). MG activity was significantly higher than SL, RF, VL, ST and BF (p< 0.001). LG activity was significantly higher than RF (p < 0.001), VL (p < 0.01), ST (p< 0.001), and BF (p< 0.001). TA activity was higher than RF (p<0.001), BF (p<0.001), ST and VL (p<0.01) (see Figure 3.4B). To conclude, there was significance variance in Group 2 for all recorded muscles when comparing pre- and post-training.

3.2.2 Duration of MVC plantar flexion

Burst duration defined by the onset and offset of muscle activity of all muscles were measured for each participant when they performed the ankle plantar flexion MVC. We examined burst duration with respect to the MVC of the SL pre and post-training (figure 6). Based on the soleus (SL) MVC, participants were categorized into two groups: Group 1: SL activity was higher than MG activity (n=14; see figure 3.5A), Group 2: MG activity was greater than SL activity (n=8, see figure 3.5B). The trend for group 1 and 2 suggested differences in muscles burst duration.

In group 1, there was no significantly different with pre and post-training (F (1,208) = 0.1, p=0.32). There was significantly different between means of muscles (F

(7,208) = 3.156, p=0.003). Participants had the longest burst duration in TA (5.77 \pm 0.11 sec, pre-training) and 5.97 \pm 0.18 sec, post-training. The participants had the shortest burst duration in BF with about 5.29 \pm 0.14 sec (pre-training) and the shortest burst duration went for RF in post-training with 5.35seconds \pm 0.2. TA post-training was significantly longer than RF pre-training (p=0.04) and TA post-training was significantly longer than BF pre-training (p=0.02). In post-training, ST, BF and TA had longer burst duration. There was suggested the trend that SL, MG, LG, RF, VL showed the unchanged pattern of data after training (see figure 3.5A).

In group 2, there was no significantly different with pre and post-training (F (1,112) =0.99, p=0.32). There was no significantly different between means of muscles burst duration (F (7,127) =0.28, p=0.96). Participants had the longest burst duration in VL with about 5.95 seconds \pm 0.25(pre-training). The longest duration went for TA (5.82seconds \pm 0.34) and VL (5.80 seconds \pm 0.25) in post-training. SL, MG, LG, RF, VL and ST had a change in activity post-training (duration in post-training MVC was decreased by 0.2sec). BF and TA showed a similar data pattern, and do not change with training (see figure 3.5B). To conclude, in both groups, in comparison to pre and post-training, there was no difference in all recorded muscles.

3.2.3 Balance board

Using the activity of the stabilometer as a reference, we compared muscles activity of each of the stable and unstable phases outlined in section method. And



Figure 3-5 Average of burst duration of MVC plantar flexion (mean ± SEM) between pre and post-training recording from eight muscles SL, MG, LG, RF,VL,ST,BF,TA. A) Group1 n=14 B) Group2 (n=8). non-significant= p>0.05, * indicates p<0.05

then dataset of stable (figure 3.6 A) and unstable phases (figure 3.6 B) were taken to the ratio (figure 3.6 C).

In a stable phase, the average muscle activity from eight muscles was approximately 0.03 mV±0.04. The trend of muscle activity after training



POST TRAINING UNSTABLE/STABLE

Figure 3-6 Muscle activity (mean \pm SEM) during stable phase in relation to stabilometer recording from eight muscles BF, ST, RF, VL, LG, MG, SL, TA (in 22 participants) A) Muscle activity during stable phase B) Muscle activity during unstable phase C) The ratio of unstable/stable activity. Two-way ANOVAs and post-hoc (Tukey's tests) by indicating non-significant= p>0.05, * indicates p<0.05. There was significantly different between pre and post-training in figure A and C (p<0.05).

suggested decreasing pattern across six muscles (BF, ST, RF, VL, LG, MG) compared to pre-training, but there was no significantly different with training (F (1,48) = 1.49, p=0.23). There was no significantly different between muscles (F (7, 48) = 0.744, p=0.636). There were two muscle activities suggested increasing the amplitude after training (SL and TA). In post-training, SL activity

showed the highest amplitude (0.037±0.005 mV).SL activity suggests the trend improved stability by 1.5±0.1 mV.

In unstable phase (figure 3.6B), there was a significant difference between pre and post-training (F (1, 48) = 9.913, p=0.003), but the mean activity of muscles was the same (F (7, 48) = 0.67, p=0.7). The average muscle activity from the recorded muscles was approximately 0.035 ± 0.03 mV. In pre-training, SL activity had the highest amplitude (0.038 ± 0.004 mV) and followed by ST (0.037 ± 0.004 mV), BF (0.035 ± 0.006 mV) and RF (0.037 ± 0.002 mV)). In post-training, SL activity had the highest amplitude (0.033 ± 0.005 mV) and followed by RF (0.029 ± 0.001 mV). After training, all recorded muscles activity suggested the decreasing trend.

To observe the ratio of unstable/stable phase, in figure 3.6 C, there was significantly different across pre and post-training (F (1,48) =5.6, p=0.02). There was no significantly different between means of muscles (F (7,48) =0.62, p=0.73). In pre-training, it was suggested the trend that RF (ratio=1.47 \pm 0.3) and SL (ratio=1.41 \pm 0.11) had the highest activity. After training, it was suggested LG (1.19 \pm 0.11) and RF (1.16 \pm 0.07) had the highest activity.

Balance board: Comparison of the time to peak for muscles and balance board during the same period

After calculating the onset to peak of onset along the peak time, unstable over stable phases were demonstrated in both pre and post-training. To examine the muscle activity, maintain balance both pre and post-training, the change in latency are depicted in figure 3.7. To assess the restore balance function, we observed by the unstable phase. Using waveform analysis (see method section), ± 5 ms was used to define the correlation between the muscle and balance board. In the stable phase (figure 3.7A), there was significantly different between pre and post-training (F (1,48) =12.342, p=0.001). There was no significantly different between the means of muscles (F (7,48) =0.4, p=0.9). TA, LG and ST showed the onset to peak about 5 ms (TA= -2ms±5, LG=-2mec±5 and ST=-3ms±5), so they maintained balance at pre-training condition. It was suggested the trend after training, MG (3ms±13) and RF (2ms±1.7) was delayed at 5 ms from the peak of balance board activity. After training, both RF and MG were active.

In the unstable phase (figure3.7B), there was significantly different between pre and post-training (F (1,48) =5.522, p=0.023). There was no significantly different between the means of muscles (F (7,48) =0.272, p=0.962). In pre-training, using

the criteria of time lag ± 5 ms, there was suggested that TA (4ms ± 3), SL (-2 ms ± 3) and MG (-1 ms ± 4). Therefore, TA, SL and MG were active to restore balance at pre-training condition by observing their time lags being approximately ± 5 ms. Post-training, TA (1 ms ± 3) and VL (-2ms ± 3.4) were active to restore balance. In figure 3.7 C, there was significantly different between pre and post-training (F (1,48) = 16.14, p=0.0002). There was no difference between means of muscles (F (7, 48) = 0.39, p=0.91). Observing the duration between 0 ± 5 ms of unstable -stable, the trend suggested that in pre-training condition, ankle muscle, MG (9 ± 4 ms), SL (5 ± 3 ms) and TA (6 ± 4 ms) were active to recover balance. Post-training, knee muscles RF, VL and MG were active to recover balance instead of the ankle. In post-training, RF activity duration was about -9ms ± 13 , VL was -10 ± 9 ms and MG was -10 ± 10 ms. RF activity was improved after training by four folds.

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Main findings

1. during the Plantar flexion MVC task, SL activity was greater than of the MG (14/22 participants) (figure 3.4). There was no evidence of fatigue, after training, when performing the MVC (figure 3.2).

2. During the balance task, MG, RF and ST helped maintain balance during stable phase (figure 3.7A), while TA, SL, VL were active in improving recovery of balance (figure 3.7B).

4. There was a trend in the data to suggest a decrease in activity in most muscles post-training (figure 3.6) MVC

3.3.2 Possible mechanism: MVC

In group 1, 14 participants showed SL activity being higher than MG; however, the other group 8, MG was greater than SL (figure 3.4). In MVC group 1: soleus and medial gastrocnemius can be selectively activated for 11 participants (14/22 participants). MVC of soleus with the flexed knee at 60° can be used for MVC test (14/22 participants achieved the MVC of soleus) and there were 8/22 participants demonstrated MG in Soleus MVC.

Anatomically, medial gastrocnemius (MG) acts not only as a plantar flexor but also as a knee flexor, meaning that it is an antagonist during knee extension. The soleus is a mono-articular plantar flexor (Suzuki et al., 2014). However, our initial data suggested that the activity of the MG is greater than that of the SL (figure 3.4B). This could be due to two reasons 1) MG and SL have the same insertion, which would allow them to work together during plantar flexion. During an MVC plantar flexion task, it can be challenging to achieve the output from soleus alone, because both MG and SL have the same insertion at the calcaneal tendon. 2)



Figure 3-7 shows the change onset to peak in relation to stabilometer (mean \pm SEM) in pre and post-training, recording from eight muscles of the lower limb (BF,ST,VL,RF,LG,MG, SL and TA). A) Change in latency in stable phase B) the change in latency in unstable phase C) shows the difference in latency onset to peak by Unstable (s) – Stable (s). Two-way ANOVAs was tested and post-hoc (Tukey's tests) by indicating non-significant= p>0.05. There was significantly different between pre and post-training in figure A, B and C (p<0.05), but there was no significantly different between the means of muscles *in figure A, B and C (p<0.05)*.

MG is bi-articular muscle, so it has a powerful action to achieve plantar flexion MVC (Suzuki et al., 1982).

Burst duration with respect to the MVC of the SL pre and post-training, burst duration was unchanged with training (figure 3.5). However, there was a dissimilar trend between group1 and group2 participants. For example, in group 1, 14 participants achieved SL muscle activity with remained the duration pattern SL, MG, LG, RF, VL after training. There were three muscles presenting increased duration (ST, BF and TA). In contrast, in group 2 (8/22 participants), burst duration after training of SL, MG, LG, RF, VL, ST was changed by 0.2 seconds (not significant p> 0.05) (figure 3.5). It was presumed that SL activity may lead in TA, BF and ST duration changes. MG may not influence TA and BF duration. However, it was shifted by 0.2 seconds but not significantly, so we might need further experiments to define the effect of TA and BF on MG.

3.3.3 Possible mechanism: Dynamic Balance

Balance is a complicated process involving modification of both axial and limb muscles function to compensate for the effects of gravity and alterations in body position and load to prevent a person from falling (Pratt et al., 1994). This procedure comprises input from a variety of sensory modalities (visual, vestibular and proprioceptive). During standing, the human sensory-motor system collects sensory input from the proprioceptive and supraspinal control to generate the appropriate movement output (Prieto et al., 1996). If the input has adaptation, the muscle activity output can have altered patterns. Because of inconsistency in signals due to various factors, such as non-constant biomechanics as the body is off- centre, relative to the base of support, non-constant sensory perception at the receptor and non-constant motor firing (Faisal et al., 2008). Because balance is complex, in order to maintain balance, bi-articular muscles, such as rectus femoris, acts to finely tune the movement with two-directional movement (hip flexor and knee extensor (Macpherson and Fung, 1999). The Rectus femoris may play a crucial role to maintain balance and may have deleterious effects when transferred to become a knee flexor. In terms of flexible synergises theory, biarticular is different from the mono-articular muscle. For example, mono-articular has more rigidity (extensor acts extension, flexor acts flexion); however, biarticular is more flexible by motion associated with peripheral feedback afferent (Macpherson, 1988).

To achieve stability, participants activated the VL, ST, RF, LG and TA earlier while delaying activity in SL when the activity of these muscles was compared to the unstable phase (see result figure 3.7 A, B). The shift in onset ranged from 5 to 20 ms. Overall, in a dynamic task commonly used to examine and restore balance (Spaan et al., 2017), it is assumed that muscles at the ankle and trunk are the most active when trying to maintain balance (Winter et al., 1993). However, my data show that while overall there was more activity of the muscles acting at the ankle, the activity of the muscles acting at the knee was greater when the participant was in balance (see figure 3.6,3.7). This suggests that training of the muscles active around knee may enhance or speed up the recovery of dynamic balance. Given their importance for balance (Winter et al., 1993), for the balance task used in the present thesis we expected to see activity in the muscles at the ankle (SL, MG, LG and TA) to be correlated with the position of the balance board, and a change in their activity would be reflected in the position of the stabilometer. Thus, activity in SL should be about the same in both stable and unstable states, but the other muscles at the ankle were reduced in a stable state. Instead, activity in the muscles at the hip and knee (especially VL, RF and ST) was more important in shaping the activity of the stabilometer, as a change in amplitude accompanied a change in onset and offset of activity of these appear to define stable over unstable states of the stabilometer (see figure 3.7). Rectus femoris and knee muscle can be influenced by the positioning (squatting position). It has been previously reported that slightly flexed knee like a squat position can help control balance (Cheng et al., 2017) with suggestions that a slightly flexed knee at 30 ° can also be allowing auto balance correction or recovery (Runge et al., 1999). In this study, participants performed better at retaining balance when they stood with a slightly flexed knee like a squatting position. The squatting strategy can improve balance recovery (Hemami et al., 2006). Squatting position is a protective response and has been documented in backward falls (Runge et al., 1999).

To explain the paired muscle activity, in stable balance phase which was focused on ±5 ms, TA and LG showed balance maintenance (figure 3.7). TA is an ankle dorsiflexor muscle, but LG is an ankle plantar flexor. It was possible to work as an agonist-antagonist function. DiGiulio and colleagues studied gross anatomy using ultrasound on human SL and TA, they found that TA and SL are active together as agonist and antagonist to maintain balance (DiGiuilo et al, 2009). In post-training, VL and LG were active to maintain balance, again LG is a knee flexor, but VL is a knee extensor. These might be the counteraction of the knee to maintain an upright position.

To learn a new skill, the human nervous system is highly adaptable in response to different types of training (Adkins et al., 2006). These neural adaptations take place at both spinal and supraspinal levels and they are task and training dependent (Taube et al., 2007). In this regard, it is well known that resistant training promotes almost opposite adaptation (Aagaard, 2003). While balance training has been shown to decrease motor units firing rates, increased firing rates are observed after a period of resistance training. That is why RMS after training suggested the decreasing trend (see result figure 3.6). In terms of balance control, the pathways suggesting supraspinal control (e.g. corticospinal tract, vestibulospinal tract) and proprioceptive afferent are modulated in the spinal cord to control the posture. However, there are a few studies in literature focusing on short periods of training. It is suspected that the spinal adaption may influence the muscle synergies and evoked response because of the latency period (10-20 ms) (see result figure 3.7). However, several studies have previously demonstrated that exercise produces similar, or even greater physiological adaptations (Aagaard, 2003). Neural circuitries in the spinal cord show adaptive alterations caused by changed afferent input to the spinal cord in relation to practice effects, immobilization, injury and neurorehabilitation (Christiansen et al., 2017). Participants practised the motor skill sequence and this training process was most likely affected by either experience or any balance- board skills. Because our participants have not had experience with balance training before participating in the study, so balance board practice was a new skill for them. In addition, they were not taught how to control the balance exactly, so it is simply that the response and muscle adaptation is caused by new skills training (Wolpaw, 2007a). New skills involve three programs 1) primary under new behaviour 2) compensate to maintain old behaviour 3) react plasticity (Wolpaw, 2007b). Chen and co-workers stated that the evoked response activity that conditioning can change motor function resulting from activity-dependent spinal cord plasticity (Chen and Zhou, 2011). Plastic changes in the central nervous system are well recognised in relation to the acquisition of new skills (Sanes and Donoghue, 2000), such neural alterations are generally reported mainly to take place in the initial stages of strength training (Tesch et al., 1983), and their significance for the increased strength compared with the well-documented muscular alterations is still discussed (Carroll et al., 2001, Gandevia, 2001). The changes in muscle activity after having the altered input can be monitored by muscle contraction. The contraction can be processed by motor axons; however, the sensory feedback performs as a timer to send the information about the error in movement (Franklin and Wolpert, 2011, Wolpert et al., 2011). Evoked responses transmission seems to be modified by any kind of physical motion (Perez et al., 2004). Balance training activity can cause spinal evoked response modulation. Evoked response changes seem important to explain how spinal cord cause circuitries (Papegaaij et al., 2016, Taube et al., 2008a, Horak et al., 1997, Wolpaw, 2001, Gauchard et al., 2010). This result can show you clearly that spinal circuit or local input plays a role in balance training and muscle adaptation (Christiansen et al., 2017).

3.3.4 Clinical implications

My findings provide two reasons to try and achieve better soleus MVC; 1) there was no compensation by hip-knee muscles because there was significantly different between SL and hip-knee muscles (figure 3.4) 2) There was no muscle fatigue. To achieve soleus MVC, with the seated position to achieve the MVC. Activity during MVC should reduce with fatigue but it was found to be higher even after training, possibly due to motor adaptation and recruitment of more motor units. Komi and Tesch used median frequency analysis to detect central fatigue, during voluntary contractions. If participants are exhausted, then the task will fail with a reduction in motor unit firing (Komi and Tesch, 1979, Chang et al., 2012). In my procedure, I asked participants to perform plantar flexion, and I asked them to rest between contractions for about a minute. It is thought to be challenging to avoid fatigue as many use rest of 3-5 minutes between bouts. There is no evidence of fatigue MVC (see methods section, MVC figure 3.2) present no fatigue using frequency analysis to see the frequency power spectrum. I wish to avoid fatigue confounding the MVC after an exercise or a rehab that is training dynamic balance, I use my methods. I examined this by examining the power distribution for the recorded EMGs of each subject. There are very good results of frequency analysis to show non-fatigue across all lower limb muscles (see figure 3.2). This can be the standard position for the clinical guide in the future. The likely reason for lack of fatigue is in this position, as it is a seated position,

lack of gravity at the ankle joint is reduced along with the slightly relaxed position with support to the upper leg helps avoid the knee and hip influencing the ankle. During MVC's we minimised hip-knee function by supporting the participants with full support for buttocks, back and upper thigh (see figure 3.1). This position, in which the activity of the knee extensor is reduced by bending the knee at 60°, is similar to the position used by Suzuki in 1982, (Suzuki et al., 1982) during a cycling task. As participants we asked to maintain a 60 ° flexion at the knee, we also minimise quadriceps compensation (Suzuki et al., 2014), Given that MG has a bi-articular function, in that it acts in both knee flexion and plantar flexion (Kendall and Kendall, 2005), by flexing the knee at 60°, we avoid activation of the MG muscles, in the upper portion of the leg/knee activating the lower muscle (SL) separately is single joint muscle that does not involve the knee or link with another muscle and is farther apart from MG. However, the bi-articular nature of MG means it is still active during plantar flexion at least in 22.5% of the participants (figure 3.4B). This could possibly be used as a standard position for a clinical guide to assess SL in the future; however, it should be called "gastro-soleus" MVC"

Another important implication of my findings is that, given the trend of that SL MG and RF activity can improve balance after training, (figure 3.7) this initial dataset suggests that to improve dynamic balance, patients who have balance disturbance could be prescribed specific exercises to train the rectus femoris, soleus and medial gastrocnemius (RF) (Bloem et al., 2002). Besides, human balance and postural control involve both the sensory and motor systems. Dynamic

balance training as a closed chain exercise can improve proprioception, which can increase motor unit firing after training (Keshner et al., 1987).

3.4 Conclusions

For a dynamic balance task, commonly used to examine and aid recovery of dynamic balance (Spaan et al., 2017), it is assumed that muscles at the ankle and trunk are the most active when trying to maintain balance. However, my data shows that while overall there was more activity of the muscles acting at the ankle, the activity of the muscles acting at the knee was greater when the participant was in balance. This suggests that training of the muscles active

around knee may enhance or speed up the recovery of dynamic balance. Taken all together, our data show that further research is required to not only establish the role of the muscles acting at the knee during common tasks (sit to stand, posture and walking) but also in rehabilitation. The role of the muscles acting at the knee is often overlooked by therapists and clinicians, although they are the commonly targeted muscles to improve stability in individuals with knee injuries, a very common occurrence.

Chapter 4 Pathways associated with altered lower limb muscle response to training during a dynamic task

4.1 Introduction

Acquisition of motor skill is correlated with changes in spinal cord reflexes (Wolpaw, 2001). Reflexes are modulated by prolonged practice and exercise. Balance training is an exercise that involves the plasticity of the spinal cord caused by modulating the motor unit activity (Taube et al., 2008). Standing balance is one of the lower limb ability assessment tests in stroke or motor disturbance patients in hospital (Bohannon, 2007). In addition, it is also used to train athletes to gain muscle co-contraction of the lower limb (McGuine et al., 2000). Muscle co-contraction may be associated with increased pre-synaptic inhibition and decreased reciprocal inhibition (Morita et al., 2001). Altogether, the spinal circuits themselves can be modulated by training. Schneider and Capaday reported reflexes to change over days and weeks into training in humans, manifested as a change in motor output. They studied the effect of backwardswalking over 10 days, with a recording of H-reflex in soleus muscle to assess the changes due to 10 days of training (Schneider and Capaday, 2003). They found that the reflexes were larger at the beginning and then it was not detected at 10th day. The change in reflex was attributed to the possible change in sensitivity of the proprioceptive or sensory input from the foot. The improved ability of the subjects to carry out the balance task, described in the previous chapter, was associated with an altered recruitment order of the muscles. The recruitment order can be altered due to multiple reasons, a) change in pathways defining muscle recruitment, b). Change in excitability of these pathways.

In this chapter, I describe interactions between leg muscles evoked by stimulation of the tibial nerve both before and after the subject was trained to perform the novel task of the balance board. This allowed us to assess any likely change in the spinal circuits associated with the muscles, induced by the training which improved the subject's ability to balance.

Chen and Zhou (2011) reported that the soleus muscle training is used to improve balance in patients undergoing rehabilitation. Electrical stimulation of the tibial nerve is also commonly used clinically to stimulate the soleus muscle for both diagnosis and gain of function tests (Burke, 2016) testing spinal evoked response, assessment of nerve conduction and reciprocal inhibition (Abbruzzese et al., 1988, Pierrot-Deseilligny and Burke, 2012). My results presented in chapter 3 (balance board), indicated the same that the soleus is one of the muscles that help with maintenance of balance (see 3.7B and C).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Equipment/tools

Muscle activity was recorded as EMGs using the Delsys Trigno[™] system (1.9 kHz, 20 - 450 Hz). Maximal voluntary contraction during plantar flexion was tested using a Dynamometer (Biodex system 3pro; Biodex medical, Shirley, NY, USA). For standing balance training a stability platform (42" x38"x 22", Lafayette Ins. Co. USA) was used. Tibial nerve was stimulated with the single biphasic square pulse of 200 µs duration, stimulus strength ranging from 1-20 mA, at 2kHz, using a Digitimer DS7AH (Digitimer, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, UK). The data were recorded onto a PC running Spike 2.8.0 (CED) for later offline processing and analysis.

4.2.2 Participants

All experiments were carried out as per the guidance in BIOSCI 16-003, issued by the local human ethics committee at Leeds. Of the 25 healthy, participants in the previous study (Chapter 3), 15 were administered the Tibial nerve stimulation and recorded from for evoked responses. Physical attributes of the 15 participants (n=15, female=4); age of 18 - 30 (27.13yrs± 4.98), is detailed in table

SUBJECT	HEIGHT(m)	AGE	WEIGHT (kg)	ACTIVITY	SEX
H3	1.73	25	72	Gym	Μ
H7	1.61	29	65	NONE	F
H9	1.9	29	105	Karate	Μ
H10	1.79	25	75	Running	Μ
H12	1.8	24	70	Climbing	Μ
H13	1.85	39	81	Boxing	Μ
H14	1.75	23	63	Football	Μ
H15	1.55	36	45	Running	F
H16	1.78	28	63	Squash	Μ
H17	1.8	26	65	Jogging	Μ
H20	1.75	23	70	Cycling	F
H22	1.59	27	52	swimming	F
H23	1.9	27	82	Running	Μ
H24	1.75	19	72	Football	Μ
H25	1.78	27	82	Football	М

Table 4-1 Characteristic of the 15 participants showing height, age, weight, physical activities and gender who were administered tibial nerve stimulation

Participants were not permitted to participate if they had any history of 1) neurological disorders such as nerve injury 2) use of prescription medication 3) recent illness or viral infection within the past two weeks 4) use of recreational or performance-enhancing drugs 5) ingestion of alcohol within the previous 24 hours 6) history of anaemia, asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, family history of sudden death, fainting, heart disease, high blood pressure, respiratory disease, muscle or joint injury 7) Inability to provide informed consent or understand English 8) current pregnancy.

4.2.3 Procedure

In addition to the balance board training and the MVC described in the previous chapter, we used electrical stimulation of the tibial nerve to determine any change in the pathways involved in the control of the leg muscles active during balance



10 ms

Figure 4-1 Standard testing and training protocol and example of evoked responses in muscles to tibial nerve stimulation. A) Pre-training session; i. Soleus MVC ii. Electrical stimulation of tibial nerve B) Training C) Post-training session; i Soleus MVC ii tibial nerve stimulation D) and E) Examples if evoked response in muscles to electrical stimulation of the tibial nerve, D) averages from H23 showing difference in response in SL muscles to stimulus strengths of 1x and 3x M threshold E) averaged recordings from all muscles (RF, VL, ST, BF, LG, MG,SL,TA) to the stimulation of the tibial nerve and the procedure to measure peak-to-peak. The response in RF, VL, ST and BF was negligible.

4.2.3.1 Peripheral stimulation using electrical stimulation

Stimulating electrode: The tibial nerve, innervating the plantar flexor muscles, identified by tracing the distal tendon of the semitendinosus muscle and moving laterally while palpating deep into the popliteal fossa. The optimal stimulation point was first located using a hand-held electrode. All peripheral nerve stimuli were delivered were a single square pulse using the constant current, high voltage stimulator (DS7AH, Digitimer, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, UK) with the cathode being placed rostrally and anode towards the ankle to avoid an anodal block. The anodal block is a phenomenon where a local block in nerve conduction is caused by hyperpolarization of the neuronal membrane by an electrical stimulus. When steady direct current is passed through a nerve, excitability is raised near the cathode and lowered near the anode. When the polarization under cathode occurs, there is also hyperpolarization of the nerve beneath the anode. The threshold for the anodal block is always higher than for excitation that would be increasing the stimulation intensity when recording the muscle activity. To avoid anodal block, which causes the stimulus intensity to higher than required, the anodal end of the stimulator block should be placed carefully so that it is close to the muscle, and does not stimulate another nerve (Kirshblum et al., 1998). The electrical stimulation was repeated between 7-10 and the evoked responses, recorded from each subject at each stimulus strength tested. The stimulus current was increased incrementally until a plateau was reached for the peak-to-peak amplitude for the spinal reflex. Peak-to-peak measurement is widely used to assess the reflex changes. For example, Capaday and Stein (1996) used the peak-to-peak analysis to measure the amplitude modulation in the stepping procedure. Peak-to-peak is defined by measuring the difference between the maximum and minimum values in the time range (http://ced.co.uk/img/Spike8print.pdf). Using the peak-to-peak to define the amplitude and latency is convenient because the researcher could find the peak in activity and mark it properly and then ask the cursor to find the peak of reflex. The stimulus was increased in 5 mA steps after the motor threshold was established. The evoked responses were recorded from all 8 muscles, the thigh and leg muscles: soleus (SL), medial gastrocnemius (MG), rectus femoris (RF), vastus lateralis (VL), tibialis anterior (TA), biceps femoris (BF) and semitendinosus (ST). During the whole process, the subjects remained standing and relaxed, with the knee slightly bent at 20 ° flexion. Peak-to-peak amplitudes and latencies were then computed offline from the average EMG waveform. Onset latencies of the evoked response in each muscle were measured as the



Figure 4-2 Change in latency to peak pre and post-training. Mean of the measured latency to peak for each muscle across all participants (n=15) is presented (mean \pm SEM), pre-training in blue; post-training in orange.

time to peak from the peak amplitude of the evoked response was also measured. To avoid onset latency changes, the stimulating electrode was kept fixed throughout the experiment. The longest latency for an evoked response in the soleus to tibial nerve stimulation was 35 ms. The amplitude of evoked response in RF, VL, ST and BF was too low (<10% of baseline) to be used, hence only four muscles TA, MG, LG, SL were used for the analysis and further comparisons. All data were statistically compared using Two- way ANOVA to differentiate latency and amplitude changes under pre- and post-training conditions. When significant differences were found (p<0.05), means were compared post hoc using Tukey's test.

4.3 Results

4.4 4.Overall data

After recording the evoked responses to tibial nerve stimulation in 15 participants in both conditions (pre- and post-balance training), the amplitude and latencies were measured. The latency to peak in the muscles remained unaltered (F (3,112) = 0.69, p=0.562) as seen in figure 4.2; The latency to peak across four

muscles (TA, LG, MG, TA) was approximately 15 ms and SL was slightly longer. There was no observed change after training across these four muscles (F (1,112) = 1.24, p=0.27).

Change in evoked response amplitude is shown in figure 4.3. Between pre-and, post-training amplitudes of the muscles remained unaltered, F (1,112) =1.37, p=0.712). However, there was the statistically significant difference between muscles group means as determined by two-way ANOVA ((F (3,112) =18.18, p=0.0001)). Amongst the muscles, in both conditions, MG amplitude was significantly greater than that of TA, LG, SL. MG was greater than TA (p=0.0003) and MG (pre-training) was greater than TA post-training (p=0.0002). MG post-training was greater than LG pre-training (p=0.02). MG pre-training was greater than LG post-training (p=0.003). MG post-training was greater than SL post-training (p=0.013). There was a trend in the data to suggest the pre-training amplitude was higher than post-training in three muscles (TA, SL), but for LG (figure 4.3), with an increase in MG activity. The reason the difference in their response is less obvious is possibly due to the high variability was seen especially in MG.



Figure 4-3 Change in amplitude of evoked response in TA, LG, MG and SL to Tibial nerve stimulation. Data from all participants (n=15) shown (mean \pm SEM). MG activity is higher post-training while that in rest is lower although, not significant. post-hoc (Tukey's tests) to determine the significant between the muscles. Note that non-significant p> 0.05, * indicates p <0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p<0.001

The latency and amplitudes when further examined seem to fall into 3 categories when compared to activity in SL. In group 1 (N=5), time to peak in muscles TA, LG, and MG both pre and post-training were compared to SL and they preceded by up to 3-5 ms (Figure 4.4A). In group 2 (n=2), the latency of TA, LG and MG was longer than SL approximately 5 ms (Figure 4.4B). In group3 (N=8, figure

4.4C), the latency by TA, LG and MG were significantly altered, such that all of them pre-training was delayed compared to SL, while after training, they preceded SL.

4.4.2 Comparison of latencies to that of SL

In group 1 (figure 4.5 A, B, C), the activity in MG, LG and TA peaked 18 ms \pm 0.8before that in SL (n = 5; participants; H3, H9, H12, H13, H16). In group 2 (figure 4.5 D, E, F), (n = 2; participants; H10, H22) TA was most delayed by 15 ms. \pm 1.2In group 3, activity in the four muscles were varied but had a similar trend approximately 14 ms \pm 0.9 (n =8; participants; H14, H15, H17, H20, H23, H24, H 25) (figure 4.5 G, H, I).



Figure 4-4 Latency changes classified based on the timing of the peak in SL. The latency of the evoked responses in the muscles was evaluated in comparison to that of SL and the averages (Mean \pm SEM) of the 15 subjects is plotted. A) Showing group1 participants' average latency (n=5), SL latency was longer than TA, LG and MG. B) Showing group2 participants' average latency (n=2), SL latency was earlier than TA, LG and MG. C) Showing group3 participants' average latency (n=8).

In group1, comparison latency (figure4.5B), there was no changes with training between the groups means as determined by two-way ANOVA (F (1,32) =1.647, p=0.21). There was a significant difference between muscle groups (F (3,32) =6.95, p=0.001). The time to peak of SL was the longest (pre-training18 ms ± 0.84). TA, MG, LG peaked at 15 ms ± 0.8 , and SL was significantly longer than TA in latency of pre-training (p= 0.03). In terms of average response amplitude



(figure4.5C), there were no changes with training between the groups means as determined by two-way ANOVA (F (1,32) =0.18, p=0.67). There was a significant

Figure 4-5 Comparison latency and amplitude of evoked response in three groups. Group1 n =5 (A-C), Group 2 n=2(D-F) and Group 3 n=8 (G-I). A, D, G) Raw EMG traces B, E, H) Average of onset to reflex (in ms) C,F,I) Amplitude response Two-way ANOVA applied to determine between pre and post-training conditions and across four muscles and using post-hoc (Tukey's tests) to determine the significant between

difference between means of muscle groups (F (3,32) =8.04, p=0.0004). MG had the highest amplitude (4mV±1.35), followed by SL, LG and TA respectively. LG and SL activity were reduced when compared to pre-training, (Pre-training LG (1±0.5 mV), Post-training LG (0.8±0.6 mV) and Pre-training SL (1.8±0.33 mV), Post-training SL (1±0.14 mV). TA amplitude was the lowest (0.2 ±0.04 mV) in both pre and post-training. MG activity was significantly greater (p=0.049) than that in TA, and LG.

In group2 shown in figure 4.5 D, E, F, comparison latency (figure 4.5D and E), there was no significant difference with training (F (1, 8) =0.02, p=0.89). There was no different across muscle groups (F (3, 8) =3.84, p=0.06). The onset of TA activity was delayed pre -training15.4 ms \pm 1.2 and post-training 16 ms \pm 0.8 compared to SL activity (pre-training 12 ms \pm 0.9 and post-training 11.5ms \pm 0.6). The onset of LG was at 14.4 ms \pm 0.6 (pre-training) and 14.3 \pm 0.8 (post-training) and MG at 12.7 ms \pm 1.0 (pre-training) and 13.5 ms \pm 1.9 ms (post-training). In figure 4.5F, the response amplitude was presented, there were no changes with training (F (1,8) =0.25, p= 0.63). There was no different across muscle groups (F (3, 8) = 2.17, p=0.17). MG was the highest (pre-training 3.04 mV \pm 1.84 and post-training 3.4mV \pm 2.06). The LG (pre-training 1.98mV \pm 1.7 and post-training 0.76 mV \pm 0.47), SL (pre-training 1.62 mV \pm 1.0, post-training 0.74 \pm 0.05) and TA (pre-training 0.15 mV \pm 0.01, post-training 0.17 mV \pm 0.8).

In group3 shown in figure 4.5 G, H and I, the onset of four muscles activity (figure4.5 G and H) were no changes with training (F (1, 56) =0.52, p=0.47) and there was no different across the means of muscle groups (F(3,56=0.03, p=0.99)). In pre-training, the onset of TA was 14.2 ms \pm 0.09, LG was 14.9 ms \pm 0.2, MG was 14.8 ms \pm 0.07 and SL was 13.5 ms \pm 0.08). In post-training, the onset of TA was 12.3 ms \pm 0.06, LG was 11.6 ms \pm 0.09, MG was 12.1ms \pm 0.09 and SL was 13.1ms \pm 0.1. It was suggested the trend that the onset of four muscles activity was reduced after training.

In figure 4.5 I presented the response amplitude, there was no significantly different with training (F (1, 56) = 0.21, p=0.65).

However, there was significantly different across muscle groups (F (3,56) =13.262, p=0.000001). The response amplitude of MG was the highest both pre and post-training (pre-1.38mV ± 0.44 and post 1.88 ± 1.43). LG and TA had the lowest amplitude. LG had the amplitude at pre-training 0.23mV±0.06 and post-training 0.21mV±0.13. SL had the amplitude at pre-training 1.21 mV ±0.25 and

post-training 1.23 mV±0.57.MG post-training response was significantly greater than TA pre-training (p=0.002) and TA post-training (p=0.0013). MG post-training had greater than and LG pre-training (p=0.005) and LG post-training (p=0.0012). To summarise, in latency response, TA activity post-training was delayed in both group 1 and 3 by a millisecond. In amplitude response, pre-training TA, LG and MG were maximal after SL had reached its maximal amplitude in group 2 and 3.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Main findings

1. TA muscle response was evoked with stimulation of the Tibial nerve (figures 4.1, 4.2).

2. There was a trend for the decreased amplitude of LG and SL after training (figure 4.2) along with a decreased latency to peak (figure 4.5 B, E, H).

3. MG activity was the highest compared to the rest of ankle muscles both pre and post-training (figure 4.3 and figure 4.5 C, F, I)

4.5.2 TA response after tibial nerve stimulation

It is known that the corticospinal, vestibulospinal and reticulospinal tract control balance tract (Woollacott et al., 1984, Woollacott and ShumwayCook, 1996, Newell and Vaillancourt, 2001). The corticospinal tract controls limb and trunk which can be studied in human easily. Originating from the primary motor cortex, supplementary motor cortex and cingulate gyrus, in a healthy subject, a small proportion of the contralateral corticospinal tract projects to motoneurones (monosynaptic), (Brouwer and Ashby, 1992a), while most, via collateral branches, project to inhibitory, excitatory and Renshaw interneurons (polysynaptic)(Baldissera et al., 1998).

Tibialis anterior (TA) muscle is innervated by common peroneal nerve (Kendall and Kendall, 2005); and the Tibial nerve activates MG, LG and SL. However, in this study, after tibial nerve stimulation, TA response was seen in both pre- and post-balance training (figure 4.1, figure 4.6 A, B). TA muscle response is possibly due to the facilitation of sensory or motor component of the circuit involved in the recruitment of the muscle. If the motor component alone was excited one assumes a motor collateral of the tibial nerve was more active in the conditions tested and would lead to an M wave or a direct motor response, which was not

seen (figure 4.6), but if it was the reflexive path arriving back to the muscle via the spinal cord was more excitable it would produce a reflexive response as seen in this study. A possible mechanistic schema is presented in figure 4.6. Recently Bennett et al (2018) reported that heteronymous monosynaptic reflexes in rats were facilitated by the release of PAD from active muscle, which may be a mechanism similar to one responsible for the one observed by us here, and that which was suggested by lles in 1996 (lles, 1996). Therefore, TA response (figure 4.6 A, B) may be influenced by sensory and CST input as summarised in figure 4.6C.

4.5.3 Changes in spinal evoked response excitability after training

There was the trend suggested that decreasing of amplitude in LG and SL after



10 ms

Figure 4-6 Tibial nerve stimulation evoked response in TA muscle. A) an example from subject H3 to 1.5xT stimulation showing an M and a H response on LG and SL but not in TA B) same subject H3 but after 3xT stimulation showing a reflex response (R) in TA while LG and SL have both M and H responses C) a possible of mechanism showing TA response modulated by several sources including Corticospinal drive (CST) and spinal reflex modulation (Adapted from Wolpaw,2007)

training (see results figure 4.2) and latency was decreased (figure 4.5 B, E, H).

As you can see in this study, the balance training was set on the same day, but

we enhanced training for 10 trials (see methods section). Therefore, the reduced amplitude may be due to training. The reduced amplitude of evoked response has been suggested after short-term balance board training (8 trial with 3 days follow-up) (Trimble and Koceja, 1994). A reduction in evoked response amplitude following a session of physical activity is a well-established phenomenon (Bulbulian and Darabos, 1986, Trimble and Koceja, 2001). In addition, Evoked response amplitude was more influenced by a sequential motor task training (Misiaszek et al., 1995, Mazzocchio et al., 2006). In this study, the trend of latency and amplitude was reduced about 4 ms and amplitude of SL reduced approximately 1-1.5 mV (50 %) when compared to pre-training.

In figure 3.5, the trend seems to be that the duration to peak between pre and post-training was 1-5 ms so it could be an oligosynaptic delay (Marchand-Pauvert and Nielsen, 2002). Therefore, latency changes in 15 participants suggested that changes in spinal evoked response excitability were due to changes taking place within the spinal cord. As the literature suggests the synaptic efficacy of afferent volleys can be modulated by an inhibitory process that depolarises the presynaptic terminals of the afferents. All afferents are subject to presynaptic inhibition, controlled by descending tracts (Rudomin and Schmidt, 1999). In future direction, to confirm latency change after training, I will conduct H reflex with paired-pulse and recruit more participants.

4.5.4 MG amplitude is greater than LG, TA by positioning

The classic position for researchers to achieve the spinal evoked response of soleus is a seated subject with the hip and knee flexed and the ankle fixed in 30° plantar flexion (Delwaide and Hugon, 1969). While applicable for the clinician, this situation is less convenient for diagnostic studies, and examining the patient lying on a bed is more convenient (prone for soleus). However, in my study, we would like to achieve the evoked response while participants are standing up to study the dynamic balance task properly. This takes stretch off the bi-articular gastrocnemius muscle. Medial gastrocnemius may be influenced by knee flexion and plantar flexion during standing. Therefore, the increasing of proprioception by sending proprioceptive signals to the knee joint which is the origin of the medial gastrocnemius. The increased proprioception in bi-articular muscles can result in both short-term and long-term alteration of spinal cord adaption(Gauchard et al., 2010). Increases in discharge probability at evoked latencies have been defined

in post-stimulus time histograms of the discharge of low-threshold single motor units from these muscles. However, using the techniques described above, it has proved difficult to obtain convincing evoked response responses during voluntary contractions of some muscles in all healthy participants (Burke, 2016, Pierrot-Deseilligny and Burke, 2012).

My procedure used a standing position without support during evoked response stimulation because I wanted participants to maintain the position close to the balance board training. Position can alter the amplitude of the evoked response. Decreasing in evoked response excitability can be due to changes in presynaptic inhibition of group Ia afferent terminals or in the activity of homonymous motoneurone pools (Misiaszek, 2003). The amplitude of the soleus evoked response is smaller during active standing than when standing with back support (Katz et al., 1988). Therefore, spinal evoked response changes in the short term were most likely facilitated by presynaptic inhibition of Ia afferent.

4.6 Conclusions

This study provides preliminary evidence that it is unlikely that pathways exhibited any organisational change, but modulation of spinal circuits after training influenced the subjects' ability to practice to balance after 14 trials.

Limitation and technically difficult.

An important limitation was of retaining participants, I began with 25 but 10 withdrew from the electrical stimulation session. They dropped out of the session owing to either fear of stimulation (n=2) and of difficulty standing during electrical stimulation (n=8).

Chapter 5 General discussion Possible mechanisms

My thesis comprised of three main studies based on the predicted mechanisms



Study 1: The greater the knee flexion, greater is the ST activity. Ib afferents excites inhibitory interneurone onto RF (NOT illustrated here). B) Study 2A: Balance training might cause spinal modulation. Training leads to increased la led RF(Bi-articular muscles) activation, leading to more recruitment after balance training. C) Study 2B: Electrical stimulation of tibial nerve leading to increased TA recruitment. Multiple pathways may modulate the output. Exc- Excitatory interneurone, Inh-Inhibitory interneurone, MN-Motorneurone, RF-Rectus femoris,

ST-semitendinosus, red arrow head -p

increasing signal

described in figure 5.2; study 1 and study 2A demonstrated how muscle synergy switches from having one primary muscle to another like between RF and ST and finally study 2B explored how electrical stimulation is involved in TA muscle recruitment.

Study 1. There may be an increased sensory drive from the muscle tendons at the knee (Day et al., 1984, Day et al., 1983) at greater knee flexion of 60° and 90°. This could be the cause for the alteration of the interactions leading to ST being more active than the expected muscles of the Quadriceps (RF), possibly via the reciprocal inhibitory networks (figure 5.2 A).

Study 2A. Balance training activity can cause spinal evoked response modulation. Additionally, propriospinal excitatory interneurons might play an important role to connect multiple spinal cord segments and participate in a complex of motor reflexes. Evoked response changes seem important to explain how spinal cord circuit excitability can produce different outputs (Papegaaij et al., 2016, Taube et al., 2008a, Horak et al., 1997, Wolpaw, 2001, Gauchard et al., 2010). This result shows clearly that either the afferent input plays a role in balance training and muscle adaptation like previously seen in other conditions involving the leg muscles (Christiansen et al., 2017).

Study 2B. After balance training and electrical stimulation on the tibial nerve, TA muscle had an evoked response, possibly due to the facilitation of the sensory or motor component of the circuit involved in the recruitment of the muscle. Therefore, TA response may be influenced by sensory and CST input (Iles, 1996) as summarised in figure 5.2

5.1 C. Clinical Correlation

In study 1, at 60 $^{\circ}$ and 90 $^{\circ}$ of knee flexion, I suspected the possible mechanism to be that the RF Ib inhibiting RF and increasing activity of ST. According to this



Spinal

Figure 5-2 Clinical correlation relying on possible mechanisms from this thesis **A**) Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) stimulation can activate excitatory interneurone to promote RF function. **B**) Proprioceptive Neuromuscular facilitation (PNF) exercise to increase range of motion and muscular function at a specific knee angle **C**) Electrical stimulation of the RF proprioceptive input combined with balance training to improve knee function after injury.

imbalanced muscle activity at the knee would be similar in producing knee stiffness seen in spasticity of stroke patients. Therefore, if we would like to increase RF activity at the knee flexion 60°, two techniques in neurorehabilitation could be applied; first, to increase the drive from the descending tract using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Repetitive TMS can induce relatively longer lasting excitability changes, often used in the treatment of a neuromuscular disorder. To promote RF muscle function, TMS could be introduced in the cases which have a muscle imbalance between RF and ST. To promote an improved range of motion and RF function, proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation exercise (PNF) is suggested. PNF is a common technique for increasing range of motion (Hindle et al, 2012). It is used to improve muscle elasticity by stretching; therapists can also passively work the knee to improve the range of motion (RF) of the patient while the patient contracts ST. It is so called contract-relax technique. As the results in study1 suggest Ib inhibits RF motoneurons, while ST has more activity at 60°, this angle will be used for the cases of knee stiffness or hemiplegic spasticity. To increase the range of motion, I would suggest that therapists apply PNF on RF muscle by tapping or stretching rectus femoris (RF) by asking patients to perform an isometric contraction of ST at 60°, followed by a therapist passively stretching RF to increase proprioceptive signal (Ib) to RF motoneuron. Using the PNF technique, one can then increase the range of motion of the knee (figure 5.3B).

In study 2, to improve balance stability, the results from chapter 3 suggests that rectus femoris (RF) is the key muscle to improve the ability to balance and the results from chapter 4 suggest that electrical stimulation can improve muscle recruitment. Imbalance in posture and stroke patients should be suggested to have both balance training combined with electrical stimulation to improve their knee function. For example, in figure 5.3C, spinal plasticity can be induced with balance training. I would suggest therapists apply both balance training and electrical stimulation to RF to increase muscle recruitment.

5.2 Future directions

1) EMG under condition1 (chapter 2, result section) can be used to improve the modified Ashworth Scale and MRC scale of muscle testing. In the future, I will combine the quantitative MAS and MRC scales with sEMG quantification to improve the modified scale for lower limb muscle function.

2) It has been suggested that the increased proprioception in bi-articular muscles can result in long-term alteration of spinal cord adaption (Gauchard et al., 2010). I will conduct balance training and compare between trained and untrained participants to assess if force and muscle synergy patterns can be used to define better exercise regimes.

3) According to my data in chapter 3, I found that RF and SL are important to maintaining balance; however, due to kinematic redundancy, there would have been a variety of joint angles with which the task could be achieved. Therefore, I will measure the hip-knee-ankle angle during the stable phase and unstable phase by putting a marker on the bony landmark and visualise with 3D analysis further. It may be related to muscle activity and it might suggest clinical guidelines on how to fix the knee angle to stand on a balance board properly. Evidence suggested that ground force action from balance standing can influence biarticular joint muscles and to prevent falling, this requires bi-articular joint muscle to undertake adaptive reflex quickly (10-20ms) (Cheng, 2016). Unfortunately, I did not test the reflex of RF, however, after training, RF (knee extensor) latency is faster, which is associated with recovery of balance (figure 3.7). If I were to test RF reflex, I expect the RF reflex to adapt after training. Because when participants stand on the balance board, the ground reaction force from the balance board can influence knee proprioceptive fibre (Ia). Muscle spindle (Ia) of the extensor motoneurone sends reciprocal inhibition to flexor motoneurone (Crone and Nielsen, 1989). Rectus femoris (bi-articular muscle) acts as the knee extensor, controlling the balance using local inhibitory interneurons.

4) In the future direction in chapter 4, I will do experiments with longer training and sessions to assess the training correlated to the pathways.

5) Electrical stimulation in chapter 4, was used to produce evoked response to establish the pathways associated leading to the suggestion for no change in pathways but a change in their excitability. However, the excitability was never explicitly tested in this study. This will be confirmed using the M to H ratio obtained by stimulating the tibial nerve to produce a recruitment curve for H-reflex to establish the role of increased excitability of these spinal circuits.

6) Further research is required to establish the role of the bi-articular muscles during common tasks like sit to stand, posture and walking but also in rehabilitation.

5.4 Conclusions

This thesis highlights the role of the bi-articular muscles and their role in shaping of muscle activity during these tasks, especially the knee muscles. The role of the muscles acting at the knee is often overlooked by therapists and clinicians, even though they are commonly targeted muscles to train to improve stability in individuals with knee injuries (Abbasi et al., 2017, Benson et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the knee quality score does not have high validity, changing from examiner to examiner who examines the subject. Clinical tools such as this do not rely on knowledge of the neural and muscular deficits which can manifest their effects in various unexpected ways, like spasticity(Dietz and Sinkjaer, 2007). To propose an appropriate therapy, this thesis shows the need to measure both muscle activity and explore the neural pathways which underpin this muscle activity to aid a better understanding of the knee movement.
References

AAGAARD, P. 2003. Training-induced changes in neural function. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 31, 61-7.

AAGAARD, P., SIMONSEN, E. B., ANDERSEN, J. L., MAGNUSSON, S. P., HALKJAER-KRISTENSEN, J. & DYHRE-POULSEN, P. 2000. Neural inhibition during maximal eccentric and concentric quadriceps contraction: effects of resistance training. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 89, 2249-2257.

AAGAARD, P., SIMONSEN, E. B., MAGNUSSON, S. P., LARSSON, B. & DYHRE-POULSEN, P. 1998. A new concept for isokinetic hamstring: quadriceps muscle strength ratio. *Am J Sports Med*, 26, 231-7.

AAGAARD, P., SIMONSEN, E. B., TROLLE, M., BANGSBO, J. & KLAUSEN, K. 1996. Specificity of training velocity and training load on gains in isokinetic knee joint strength. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 156, 123-9.

ABBASI, E., KAHRIZI, S., RAZI, M. & FAGHIHZADEH, S. 2017. The effect of whole-body vibration training on the lower extremity muscles' electromyographic activities in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Med J Islam Repub Iran,* 31, 107.

ABD-ELFATTAH, H. M., ABDELAZEIM, F. H. & ELSHENNAWY, S. 2015. Physical and cognitive consequences of fatigue: A review. *J Adv Res*, 6, 351-8.

ADKINS, D. L., BOYCHUK, J., REMPLE, M. S. & KLEIM, J. A. 2006. Motor training induces experience-specific patterns of plasticity across motor cortex and spinal cord. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 101, 1776-82.

ALEXANDROV, A. V., FROLOV, A. A. & MASSION, J. 2001. Biomechanical analysis of movement strategies in human forward trunk bending. II. Experimental study. *Biol Cybern*, 84, 435-43.

ALONSO, A. C., BRECH, G. C., BOURQUIN, A. M. & GREVE, J. M. 2011. The influence of lower-limb dominance on postural balance. *Sao Paulo Med J*, 129, 410-3.

ASLAM, M. N., BHAGAVATHULA, N., PARUCHURI, T., HU, X., CHAKRABARTY, S. & VARANI, J. 2009. Growth-inhibitory effects of a mineralized extract from the red marine algae, Lithothamnion calcareum, on Ca(2+)-sensitive and Ca(2+)-resistant human colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Lett*, 283, 186-92.

AVELA, J., KYROLAINEN, H. & KOMI, P. V. 1999. Altered reflex sensitivity after repeated and prolonged passive muscle stretching. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 86,

1283-91.

BABAULT, N., POUSSON, M., MICHAUT, A., BALLAY, Y. & HOECKE, J. V. 2002. EMG activity and voluntary activation during knee-extensor concentric torque generation. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 86, 541-7.

BABAULT, N., POUSSON, M., MICHAUT, A. & VAN HOECKE, J. 2003. Effect of quadriceps femoris muscle length on neural activation during isometric and concentric contractions. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 94, 983-90.

BALDISSERA, F., CAVALLARI, P., CRAIGHERO, L., FADIGA, L., FOGASSI, L. & GALLESE, V. 1998. Excitability changes occurring in the human spinal cord while looking at video recorded hand movements. *Pflugers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology*, 435, R18-R18.

BANKS, R. W., HULLIGER, M., SAED, H. H. & STACEY, M. J. 2009. A comparative analysis of the encapsulated end-organs of mammalian skeletal muscles and of their sensory nerve endings. *J Anat,* 214, 859-87.

BASMAJIAN, J. V. & DE LUCA, C. J. 1985. *Muscles alive : their functions revealed by electromyography,* Baltimore, Williams & Wilkins.

BAUDRY, S., COLLIGNON, S. & DUCHATEAU, J. 2015. Influence of age and posture on spinal and corticospinal excitability. *Exp Gerontol*, 69, 62-9.

BAYOUMI, A. & ASHBY, P. 1989. Projections of group la afferents to motoneurons of thigh muscles in man. *Exp Brain Res*, 76, 223-8.

BENSON, L. C., ALMONROEDER, T. G. & O'CONNOR, K. M. 2017. Quantifying knee mechanics during balance training exercises. *Hum Mov Sci*, *5*1, 138-145.

BERG, K. O., WOOD-DAUPHINEE, S. L., WILLIAMS, J. I. & MAKI, B. 1992. Measuring balance in the elderly: validation of an instrument. *Can J Public Health,* 83 Suppl 2, S7-11.

BERNSHTEĬN, N. A. 1967. *The co-ordination and regulation of movements,* Oxford, New York,, Pergamon Press.

BEUTLER, A. I., COOPER, L. W., KIRKENDALL, D. T. & GARRETT, W. E., JR. 2002. Electromyographic Analysis of Single-Leg, Closed Chain Exercises: Implications for Rehabilitation After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *J Athl Train*, 37, 13-18.

BISHOP, B. N., GREENSTEIN, J., ETNOYER-SLASKI, J. L., STERLING, H. & TOPP, R. 2018. Electromyographic Analysis of Gluteus Maximus, Gluteus Medius, and Tensor Fascia Latae During Therapeutic Exercises With and Without Elastic Resistance. *Int J Sports Phys Ther,* 13, 668-675.

BLOEM, B. R., ALLUM, J. H., CARPENTER, M. G., VERSCHUUREN, J. J. & HONEGGER, F. 2002. Triggering of balance corrections and compensatory strategies in a patient with total leg proprioceptive loss. *Exp Brain Res*, 142, 91-107.

BOHANNON, R. W. 2007. Muscle strength and muscle training after stroke. *J Rehabil Med*, 39, 14-20.

BOHANNON, R. W. & SMITH, M. B. 1987. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys Ther*, 67, 206-7.

BOLGER, C. M., SANDBAKK, O., ETTEMA, G. & FEDEROLF, P. 2016. How Hinge Positioning in Cross-Country Ski Bindings Affect Exercise Efficiency, Cycle Characteristics and Muscle Coordination during Submaximal Roller Skiing. *PLoS One*, 11, e0153078.

BROUWER, B. & ASHBY, P. 1992a. Corticospinal projections to lower limb motoneurons in man. *Exp Brain Res*, 89, 649-54.

BROUWER, B. & ASHBY, P. 1992b. Corticospinal projections to lower limb motoneurons in man. *Experimental brain research*, 89, 649-654.

BROUWER, R., KAL, E., VAN DER KAMP, J. & HOUDIJK, H. 2019. Validation of the stabilometer balance test: Bridging the gap between clinical and research based balance control assessments for stroke patients. *Gait Posture*, 67, 77-84. BULBULIAN, R. & DARABOS, B. L. 1986. Motor neuron excitability: the Hoffmann reflex following exercise of low and high intensity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 18, 697-702.

BURDET, E., OSU, R., FRANKLIN, D. W., MILNER, T. E. & KAWATO, M. 2001. The central nervous system stabilizes unstable dynamics by learning optimal impedance. *Nature*, 414, 446-9.

BURKE, D. 2016. Clinical uses of H reflexes of upper and lower limb muscles. *Clinical Neurophysiology Practice*, **1**, 9-17.

BURKE, D., HAGBARTH, K. E. & LOFSTEDT, L. 1978. Muscle spindle activity in man during shortening and lengthening contractions. *J Physiol*, 277, 131-42.

BURKE, D., HAGBARTH, K. E., LOFSTEDT, L. & WALLIN, B. G. 1976. The responses of human muscle spindle endings to vibration during isometric contraction. *J Physiol*, 261, 695-711.

BURKE, D., SKUSE, N. F. & STUART, D. G. 1979. The regularity of muscle spindle discharge in man. *J Physiol*, 291, 277-90.

CAILLOU, N., DELIGNIERES, D., NOURRIT, D., DESCHAMPS, T. & LAURIOT,

B. 2002. Overcoming spontaneous patterns of coordination during the acquisition of a complex balancing task. *Can J Exp Psychol*, 56, 283-93.

CARROLL, T. J., RIEK, S. & CARSON, R. G. 2001. Neural adaptations to resistance training: implications for movement control. *Sports Med*, 31, 829-40.

CHALMERS, T. C., SMITH, H., BLACKBURN, B., SILVERMAN, B., SCHROEDER, B., REITMAN, D. & AMBROZ, A. 1981. A Method for Assessing the Quality of a Randomized Control Trial. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, 2, 31-49.

CHANG, C. H., CHEN, Y. Y., YEH, K. K. & CHEN, C. L. 2017. Gross motor function change after multilevel soft tissue release in children with cerebral palsy. *Biomed J*, 40, 163-168.

CHANG, Y. J., CHOU, C. C., CHAN, H. L., HSU, M. J., YEH, M. Y., FANG, C. Y., CHUANG, Y. F., WEI, S. H. & LIEN, H. Y. 2012. Increases of quadriceps intermuscular cross-correlation and coherence during exhausting stepping exercise. *Sensors (Basel)*, 12, 16353-67.

CHEN, Y. S. & ZHOU, S. 2011. Soleus H-reflex and its relation to static postural control. *Gait Posture*, 33, 169-78.

CHENG, K. B. 2016. Does knee motion contribute to feet-in-place balance recovery? *J Biomech*, 49, 1873-1880.

CHENG, K. B., TANABE, H., CHEN, W. C. & CHIU, H. T. 2017. Role of heel lifting in standing balance recovery: A simulation study. *J Biomech*.

CHEUNG, V. C., TUROLLA, A., AGOSTINI, M., SILVONI, S., BENNIS, C., KASI, P., PAGANONI, S., BONATO, P. & BIZZI, E. 2012. Muscle synergy patterns as physiological markers of motor cortical damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 14652-6.

CHRISTIANSEN, L., LUNDBYE-JENSEN, J., PEREZ, M. A. & NIELSEN, J. B. 2017. How plastic are human spinal cord motor circuitries? *Exp Brain Res*, 235, 3243-3249.

CLARK, N. C., ROIJEZON, U. & TRELEAVEN, J. 2015. Proprioception in musculoskeletal rehabilitation. Part 2: Clinical assessment and intervention. *Man Ther*, 20, 378-87.

CLEVELAND, D. W. & HOFFMAN, P. N. 1991. Neuronal and glial cytoskeletons. *Curr Opin Neurobiol,* 1, 346-53.

CRONE, C. & NIELSEN, J. 1989. Spinal mechanisms in man contributing to reciprocal inhibition during voluntary dorsiflexion of the foot. *J Physiol*, 416, 255-72.

CUTHBERT, S. C. & GOODHEART, G. J., JR. 2007. On the reliability and validity of manual muscle testing: a literature review. *Chiropr Osteopat*, 15, 4.

D'AVELLA, A., SALTIEL, P. & BIZZI, E. 2003. Combinations of muscle synergies in the construction of a natural motor behavior. *Nat Neurosci,* 6, 300-8.

DAVIS, H. 1961. Some principles of sensory receptor action. *Physiol Rev*, 41, 391-416.

DAY, B. L., MARSDEN, C. D., OBESO, J. A. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 1984. Reciprocal inhibition between the muscles of the human forearm. *J Physiol*, 349, 519-34.

DAY, B. L., ROTHWELL, J. C. & MARSDEN, C. D. 1983. Interaction between the Long-Latency Stretch Reflex and Voluntary Electro-Myographic Activity Prior to a Rapid Voluntary Motor Reaction. *Brain Research*, 270, 55-62.

DAY, B. L., ROTHWELL, J. C., THOMPSON, P. D., DICK, J. P., COWAN, J. M., BERARDELLI, A. & MARSDEN, C. D. 1987. Motor cortex stimulation in intact man. 2. Multiple descending volleys. *Brain*, 110 (Pt 5), 1191-209.

DE LUCA, C. J. & MERLETTI, R. 1988. Surface myoelectric signal cross-talk among muscles of the leg. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 69, 568-75.

DELWAIDE, P. J. & HUGON, M. 1969. H reflex depression by soleus sinusoidal stretching and facilitation by voluntary contraction. *Experientia*, 25, 1152-3.

DI GIULIO, I., MAGANARIS, C. N., BALTZOPOULOS, V. & LORAM, I. D. 2009. The proprioceptive and agonist roles of gastrocnemius, soleus and tibialis anterior muscles in maintaining human upright posture. *J Physiol*, 587, 2399-416. DIETZ, V. 1992. Human neuronal control of automatic functional movements: interaction between central programs and afferent input. *Physiol Rev*, 72, 33-69. DIETZ, V., GOLLHOFER, A., KLEIBER, M. & TRIPPEL, M. 1992. REGULATION OF BIPEDAL STANCE - DEPENDENCY ON LOAD RECEPTORS. *Experimental Brain Research*, 89, 229-231.

DIETZ, V. & SINKJAER, T. 2007. Spastic movement disorder: impaired reflex function and altered muscle mechanics. *Lancet Neurol*, 6, 725-33.

DOSTAL, W. F. & ANDREWS, J. G. 1981. A three-dimensional biomechanical model of hip musculature. *J Biomech*, 14, 803-12.

DUCHATEAU, J. & ENOKA, R. M. 2016. Neural control of lengthening contractions. *J Exp Biol*, 219, 197-204.

DUM, R. P. & STRICK, P. L. 2005. Frontal lobe inputs to the digit representations of the motor areas on the lateral surface of the hemisphere. *J Neurosci*, 25, 1375-

86.

DUNCAN, P. W., DAVIS, J. N., PROPST, M. & DRAYER, B. 1985. Recovery of Physical Performance after Stroke - Correlation of Cat Scans and Fugl-Meyer Scores. *Physical Therapy*, 65, 726-726.

ECCLES, J. C. 1957. *The physiology of nerve cells,* Baltimore,, Johns Hopkins Press.

ECCLES, J. C., FATT, P. & KOKETSU, K. 1954. Cholinergic and inhibitory synapses in a pathway from motor-axon collaterals to motoneurones. *J Physiol*, 126, 524-62.

ECCLES, J. C., FATT, P. & LANDGREN, S. 1956a. Central pathway for direct inhibitory action of impulses in largest afferent nerve fibres to muscle. *J Neurophysiol*, 19, 75-98.

ECCLES, J. C., FATT, P. & LANDGREN, S. 1956b. The inhibitory pathway to motoneurones. *Prog Neurobiol*, 72-82.

ECCLES, R. & LUNDBERG, A. 1957. Integrative pattern of reflex actions by impulses in large muscle spindle afferents on motoneurones to hip muscles. *Experientia*, 13, 414-5.

EDMAN, K. A., REGGIANI, C., SCHIAFFINO, S. & TE KRONNIE, G. 1988. Maximum velocity of shortening related to myosin isoform composition in frog skeletal muscle fibres. *J Physiol*, 395, 679-94.

ENGIN, A. E. & KORDE, M. S. 1974. Biomechanics of Normal and Abnormal Knee-Joint. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 7, 325-&.

ENOKA, R. M. & DUCHATEAU, J. 2016. Translating Fatigue to Human Performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc,* 48, 2228-2238.

FAISAL, A. A., SELEN, L. P. & WOLPERT, D. M. 2008. Noise in the nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9, 292-303.

FARINA, D., MERLETTI, R. & ENOKA, R. M. 2014. The extraction of neural strategies from the surface EMG: an update. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 117, 1215-1230.

FRANKLIN, D. W. & WOLPERT, D. M. 2011. Feedback modulation: a window into cortical function. *Curr Biol*, 21, R924-6.

GANDEVIA, S. C. 2001. Spinal and supraspinal factors in human muscle fatigue. *Physiol Rev*, 81, 1725-89.

GANDEVIA, S. C. & MCKENZIE, D. K. 1988. Activation of human muscles at short muscle lengths during maximal static efforts. *J Physiol*, 407, 599-613.

GAUCHARD, G. C., VANCON, G., MEYER, P., MAINARD, D. & PERRIN, P. P. 2010. On the role of knee joint in balance control and postural strategies: effects of total knee replacement in elderly subjects with knee osteoarthritis. *Gait Posture*, 32, 155-60.

GISZTER, S. F., MUSSA-IVALDI, F. A. & BIZZI, E. 1993. Convergent force fields organized in the frog's spinal cord. *J Neurosci*, 13, 467-91.

GRANIT, R., PASCOE, J. E. & STEG, G. 1957. The behaviour of tonic alpha and gamma motoneurones during stimulation of recurrent collaterals. *J Physiol*, 138, 381-400.

HAFFAJEE, D., MORITZ, U. & SVANTESSON, G. 1972. Isometric knee extension strength as a function of joint angle, muscle length and motor unit activity. *Acta Orthop Scand*, 43, 138-47.

HAMM, K. & ALEXANDER, C. M. 2010. Challenging presumptions: is reciprocal inhibition truly reciprocal? A study of reciprocal inhibition between knee extensors and flexors in humans. *Man Ther*, 15, 388-93.

HAMMOND, P. H. 1955. Involuntary activity in biceps following the sudden application of velocity to the abducted forearm. *J Physiol*, 127, 23-5P.

HEMAMI, H., BARIN, K. & PAI, Y. C. 2006. Quantitative analysis of the ankle strategy under translational platform disturbance. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, 14, 470-80.

HERZOG, W. 2014. Mechanisms of enhanced force production in lengthening (eccentric) muscle contractions. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 116, 1407-17.

HEUSER, J. E., REESE, T. S., DENNIS, M. J., JAN, Y., JAN, L. & EVANS, L. 1979. Synaptic vesicle exocytosis captured by quick freezing and correlated with quantal transmitter release. *J Cell Biol*, 81, 275-300.

HORAK, F. B., HENRY, S. M. & SHUMWAYCOOK, A. 1997. Postural perturbations: New insights for treatment of balance disorders. *Physical Therapy*, 77, 517-533.

HULTBORN, H., JANKOWSK.E & LINDSTRO.S 1971a. Recurrent Inhibition from Motor Axon Collaterals of Transmission in Ia Inhibitory Pathway to Motoneurones. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 215, 591-&.

HULTBORN, H., JANKOWSK.E, LINDSTRO.S & ROBERTS, W. 1971b. Neuronal Pathway of Recurrent Facilitation of Motoneurones. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 218, 495-&.

ILES, J. F. 1996. Evidence for cutaneous and corticospinal modulation of

presynaptic inhibition of la afferents from the human lower limb. *J Physiol*, 491 (Pt 1), 197-207.

JACOBS, R. & VAN INGEN SCHENAU, G. J. 1992. Control of an external force in leg extensions in humans. *J Physiol*, 457, 611-26.

JANKOWSKA, E. 1992. Interneuronal relay in spinal pathways from proprioceptors. *Prog Neurobiol,* 38, 335-78.

KAMPER, D. G., GEORGE HORNBY, T. & RYMER, W. Z. 2002. Extrinsic flexor muscles generate concurrent flexion of all three finger joints. *J Biomech*, 35, 1581-9.

KATZ, R., MEUNIER, S. & PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. 1988. Changes in presynaptic inhibition of Ia fibres in man while standing. *Brain,* 111 (Pt 2), 417-37.

KENDALL, F. P. & KENDALL, F. P. 2005. *Muscles : testing and function with posture and pain,* Baltimore, MD, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

KESHNER, E. A., ALLUM, J. H. & PFALTZ, C. R. 1987. Postural coactivation and adaptation in the sway stabilizing responses of normals and patients with bilateral vestibular deficit. *Exp Brain Res*, 69, 77-92.

KIERS, H., BRUMAGNE, S., VAN DIEEN, J., VAN DER WEES, P. & VANHEES, L. 2012. Ankle proprioception is not targeted by exercises on an unstable surface. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 112, 1577-85.

KIRSHBLUM, S., CAI, P., JOHNSTON, M. V., SHAH, V. & O'CONNOR, K. 1998. Anodal block in F-wave studies. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 79, 1059-61.

KNIKOU, M. 2008. The H-reflex as a probe: pathways and pitfalls. *J Neurosci Methods*, 171, 1-12.

KOMI, P. V. & TESCH, P. 1979. EMG frequency spectrum, muscle structure, and fatigue during dynamic contractions in man. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol,* 42, 41-50.

KROUCHEV, N., KALASKA, J. F. & DREW, T. 2006. Sequential activation of muscle synergies during locomotion in the intact cat as revealed by cluster analysis and direct decomposition. *J Neurophysiol*, 96, 1991-2010.

KUDINA, L. P. 1980. Reflex effects of muscle afferents on antagonist studied on single firing motor units in man. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 50, 214-21.

LEMON, R. N. 2008. Descending pathways in motor control. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 31, 195-218.

LIU, C. S., LAI, J. J. & LUO, Y. T. 2018. Design of a Measurement System for Six-Degree-of-Freedom Geometric Errors of a Linear Guide of a Machine Tool. *Sensors (Basel),* 19.

LLOYD, D. P. C. & CHANG, H. T. 1948. Afferent Fibers in Muscle Nerves. *Journal* of *Neurophysiology*, 11, 199-207.

LUNDSTROM, E., SMITS, A., BORG, J. & TERENT, A. 2010. Four-fold increase in direct costs of stroke survivors with spasticity compared with stroke survivors without spasticity: the first year after the event. *Stroke*, 41, 319-24.

LYALKA, V. F., ZELENIN, P. V., KARAYANNIDOU, A., ORLOVSKY, G. N., GRILLNER, S. & DELIAGINA, T. G. 2005. Impairment and recovery of postural control in rabbits with spinal cord lesions. *J Neurophysiol*, 94, 3677-90.

MACPHERSON, J. M. 1988. Strategies that simplify the control of quadrupedal stance. II. Electromyographic activity. *J Neurophysiol*, 60, 218-31.

MACPHERSON, J. M. & FUNG, J. 1999. Weight support and balance during perturbed stance in the chronic spinal cat. *J Neurophysiol*, 82, 3066-81.

MARCHAND-PAUVERT, V. & NIELSEN, J. B. 2002. Modulation of nonmonosynaptic excitation from ankle dorsiflexor afferents to quadriceps motoneurones during human walking. *J Physiol*, 538, 647-57.

MARCHAND-PAUVERT, V., SIMONETTA-MOREAU, M. & PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. 1999. Cortical control of spinal pathways mediating group II excitation to human thigh motoneurones. *J Physiol*, 517 (Pt 1), 301-13.

MARDIA, K. V., KENT, J. T. & BIBBY, J. 1979. *Multivariate analysis,* London, Academic Press.

MARSDEN, J. F., WERHAHN, K. J., ASHBY, P., ROTHWELL, J., NOACHTAR, S. & BROWN, P. 2000. Organization of cortical activities related to movement in humans. *J Neurosci*, 20, 2307-14.

MARTIN, A., ABOGUNRIN, S., KURTH, H. & DINET, J. 2014. Epidemiological, humanistic, and economic burden of illness of lower limb spasticity in adults: a systematic review. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, 10, 111-22.

MATTHEWS, P. B. & STEIN, R. B. 1969. The regularity of primary and secondary muscle spindle afferent discharges. *J Physiol*, 202, 59-82.

MAZZOCCHIO, R., KITAGO, T., LIUZZI, G., WOLPAW, J. R. & COHEN, L. G. 2006. Plastic changes in the human H-reflex pathway at rest following skillful cycling training. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 117, 1682-91.

MCCALL, A. A., MILLER, D. M. & YATES, B. J. 2017. Descending Influences on

Vestibulospinal and Vestibulosympathetic Reflexes. Front Neurol, 8, 112.

MERLETTI, R., FIORITO, A., LO CONTE, L. R. & CISARI, C. 1998. Repeatability of electrically evoked EMG signals in the human vastus medialis muscle. *Muscle Nerve*, 21, 184-93.

MERTON, P. A. 1954. Voluntary strength and fatigue. J Physiol, 123, 553-64.

MISIASZEK, J. E. 2003. The H-reflex as a tool in neurophysiology: its limitations and uses in understanding nervous system function. *Muscle Nerve*, 28, 144-60. MISIASZEK, J. E., CHENG, J. & BROOKE, J. D. 1995. Movement-induced depression of soleus H reflexes is consistent in humans over the range of excitatory afferents involved. *Brain Res*, 702, 271-4.

MIYAMOTO, N., WAKAHARA, T. & KAWAKAMI, Y. 2012. Task-dependent inhomogeneous muscle activities within the bi-articular human rectus femoris muscle. *PLoS One*, 7, e34269.

MORAES, A. G., COPETTI, F., ANGELO, V. R., CHIAVOLONI, L. L. & DAVID, A. C. 2016. The effects of hippotherapy on postural balance and functional ability in children with cerebral palsy. *J Phys Ther Sci*, 28, 2220-6.

MORGAN, D. L., WHITEHEAD, N. P., WISE, A. K., GREGORY, J. E. & PROSKE, U. 2000. Tension changes in the cat soleus muscle following slow stretch or shortening of the contracting muscle. *J Physiol*, 522 Pt 3, 503-13.

MUSSA-IVALDI, F. A. & BIZZI, E. 2000. Motor learning through the combination of primitives. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci,* 355, 1755-69.

MUSSA-IVALDI, F. A., GISZTER, S. F. & BIZZI, E. 1994. Linear combinations of primitives in vertebrate motor control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 7534-8.

NELSON, A. G., CHAMBERS, R. S., MCGOWN, C. M. & PENROSE, K. W. 1986. Proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation versus weight training for enhancement of muscular strength and athletic performance*. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*, 7, 250-3.

NENE, A., BYRNE, C. & HERMENS, H. 2004. Is rectus femoris really a part of quadriceps? Assessment of rectus femoris function during gait in able-bodied adults. *Gait Posture*, 20, 1-13.

NEWELL, K. M. & VAILLANCOURT, D. E. 2001. Dimensional change in motor learning. *Hum Mov Sci*, 20, 695-715.

NIELSEN, J. B. 2003. How we walk: central control of muscle activity during human walking. *Neuroscientist*, 9, 195-204.

PAPEGAAIJ, S., TAUBE, W., VAN KEEKEN, H. G., OTTEN, E., BAUDRY, S. &

HORTOBAGYI, T. 2016. Postural challenge affects motor cortical activity in young and old adults. *Exp Gerontol*, 73, 78-85.

PATERNOSTRO-SLUGA, T., GRIM-STIEGER, M., POSCH, M., SCHUHFRIED, O., VACARIU, G., MITTERMAIER, C., BITTNER, C. & FIALKA-MOSER, V. 2008. Reliability and validity of the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale and a modified scale for testing muscle strength in patients with radial palsy. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 40, 665-671.

PAYNE, K. A., HUYBRECHTS, K. F., CARO, J. J., CRAIG GREEN, T. J. & KLITTICH, W. S. 2002a. Long term cost-of-illness in stroke: an international review. *Pharmacoeconomics*, 20, 813-25.

PAYNE, M. S., NADELL, J. M. & TILTON, A. H. 2002b. Effects of intrathecal baclofen on weight gain in patients with spasticity with and without accompanying dystonia or chorcoathetosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 52, S157-S157.

PEARSON, C. E. 1920. A Well-Deserved Encomium. *Cal State J Med*, 18, 342. PEREZ, M. A., LUNGHOLT, B. K., NYBORG, K. & NIELSEN, J. B. 2004. Motor skill training induces changes in the excitability of the leg cortical area in healthy humans. *Exp Brain Res*, 159, 197-205.

PERRY, J., IRELAND, M. L., GRONLEY, J. & HOFFER, M. M. 1986. Predictive value of manual muscle testing and gait analysis in normal ankles by dynamic electromyography. *Foot Ankle*, 6, 254-9.

PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. & BURKE, D. 2012. THE CIRCUITRY OF THE HUMAN SPINAL CORD Spinal and Corticospinal Mechanisms of Movement Preface. *Circuitry of the Human Spinal Cord: Spinal and Corticospinal Mechanisms of Movement*, Xvii-Xx.

PIERROTDESEILLIGNY, E. & BURKE, D. 2012. Circuitry of the Human Spinal Cord: Spinal and Corticospinal Mechanisms of Movement. *Circuitry of the Human Spinal Cord: Spinal and Corticospinal Mechanisms of Movement*, 1-606.

PINCIVERO, D. M., GANDHI, V., TIMMONS, M. K. & COELHO, A. J. 2006a. Quadriceps femoris electromyogram during concentric, isometric and eccentric phases of fatiguing dynamic knee extensions. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 39, 246-254.

PINCIVERO, D. M., GANDHI, V., TIMMONS, M. K. & COELHO, A. J. 2006b. Quadriceps femoris electromyogram during concentric, isometric and eccentric phases of fatiguing dynamic knee extensions. *J Biomech*, 39, 246-54.

PRATT, C. A., FUNG, J. & MACPHERSON, J. M. 1994. Stance control in the

chronic spinal cat. J Neurophysiol, 71, 1981-5.

PRIETO, T. E., MYKLEBUST, J. B., HOFFMANN, R. G., LOVETT, E. G. & MYKLEBUST, B. M. 1996. Measures of postural steadiness: differences between healthy young and elderly adults. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, 43, 956-66.

PRILUTSKY, B. I. & ZATSIORSKY, V. M. 2002. Optimization-based models of muscle coordination. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 30, 32-8.

PRUSZYNSKI, J. A. & SCOTT, S. H. 2012. Optimal feedback control and the long-latency stretch response. *Exp Brain Res*, 218, 341-59.

RAINOLDI, A., MELCHIORRI, G. & CARUSO, I. 2004. A method for positioning electrodes during surface EMG recordings in lower limb muscles. *J Neurosci Methods*, 134, 37-43.

ROTHWELL, J. C. 1994. *Control of human voluntary movement,* London, Chapman & Hall.

ROUJEAU, T., DECQ, P. & LEFAUCHEUR, J. P. 2004. Surface EMG recording of heteronymous reflex excitation of semitendinosus motoneurones by group II afferents. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 115, 1313-9.

RUDOMIN, P. & SCHMIDT, R. F. 1999. Presynaptic inhibition in the vertebrate spinal cord revisited. *Exp Brain Res,* 129, 1-37.

RUNGE, C. F., SHUPERT, C. L., HORAK, F. B. & ZAJAC, F. E. 1999. Ankle and hip postural strategies defined by joint torques. *Gait Posture*, 10, 161-70.

SAFAVYNIA, S. A., TORRES-OVIEDO, G. & TING, L. H. 2011. Muscle Synergies: Implications for Clinical Evaluation and Rehabilitation of Movement. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil,* 17, 16-24.

SALENIUS, S., PORTIN, K., KAJOLA, M., SALMELIN, R. & HARI, R. 1997. Cortical control of human motoneuron firing during isometric contraction. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77, 3401-3405.

SANES, J. N. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 2000. Plasticity and primary motor cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 23, 393-415.

SARTORI, M., REGGIANI, M., FARINA, D. & LLOYD, D. G. 2012. EMG-driven forward-dynamic estimation of muscle force and joint moment about multiple degrees of freedom in the human lower extremity. *PLoS One*, *7*, e52618.

SHERRINGTON, C. 1931. Hughlings Jackson Lecture on QUANTITATIVE MANAGEMENT OF CONTRACTION FOR "LOWEST-LEVEL" CO-ORDINATION. *Br Med J*, 1, 207-11.

SHERRINGTON, C. S. 1906. Observations on the scratch-reflex in the spinal

dog. J Physiol, 34, 1-50.

SHUMWAY-COOK, A., HUTCHINSON, S., KARTIN, D., PRICE, R. & WOOLLACOTT, M. 2003. Effect of balance training on recovery of stability in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 45, 591-602.

SHUMWAYCOOK, A., ANSON, D. & HALLER, S. 1987. The Effect of Postural Sway Biofeedback on Reestablishing Stance Stability in Hemiplegic Patients. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 68, 644-644.

SIMONETTA-MOREAU, M., MARQUE, P., MARCHAND-PAUVERT, V. & PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. 1999. The pattern of excitation of human lower limb motoneurones by probable group II muscle afferents. *J Physiol*, 517 (Pt 1), 287-300.

SPAAN, M. H., VRIELING, A. H., VAN DE BERG, P., DIJKSTRA, P. U. & VAN KEEKEN, H. G. 2017. Predicting mobility outcome in lower limb amputees with motor ability tests used in early rehabilitation. *Prosthet Orthot Int,* 41, 171-177.

STEWART, T. D. & HALL, R. M. 2006. Basic biomechanics of human joints: Hips, knees and the spine. *Current Orthopaedics*, 20, 23-31.

SUNG, D. H., JUNG, J. Y., KIM, H. D., HA, B. J. & KO, Y. J. 2003. Motor branch of the rectus femoris: anatomic location for selective motor branch block in stifflegged gait. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 84, 1028-31.

SUZUKI, S., WATANABE, S. & HOMMA, S. 1982. EMG activity and kinematics of human cycling movements at different constant velocities. *Brain Res*, 240, 245-58.

SUZUKI, T., CHINO, K. & FUKASHIRO, S. 2014. Gastrocnemius and soleus are selectively activated when adding knee extensor activity to plantar flexion. *Hum Mov Sci*, 36, 35-45.

TAUBE, W., GRUBER, M. & GOLLHOFER, A. 2008a. Spinal and supraspinal adaptations associated with balance training and their functional relevance. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, 193, 101-16.

TAUBE, W., KULLMANN, N., LEUKEL, C., KURZ, O., AMTAGE, F. & GOLLHOFER, A. 2007. Differential reflex adaptations following sensorimotor and strength training in young elite athletes. *Int J Sports Med*, 28, 999-1005.

TAUBE, W., LEUKEL, C. & GOLLHOFER, A. 2008b. Influence of enhanced visual feedback on postural control and spinal reflex modulation during stance. *Exp Brain Res*, 188, 353-61.

TAUBE, W., SCHUBERT, M., GRUBER, M., BECK, S., FAIST, M. &

GOLLHOFER, A. 2006. Direct corticospinal pathways contribute to neuromuscular control of perturbed stance. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 101, 420-9.

TESCH, P. A., KOMI, P. V., JACOBS, I., KARLSSON, J. & VIITASALO, J. T. 1983. Influence of lactate accumulation of EMG frequency spectrum during repeated concentric contractions. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 119, 61-7.

THOMPSON, A. K., ESTABROOKS, K. L., CHONG, S. & STEIN, R. B. 2009. Spinal reflexes in ankle flexor and extensor muscles after chronic central nervous system lesions and functional electrical stimulation. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 23, 133-42.

TING, L. H. 2007. Dimensional reduction in sensorimotor systems: a framework for understanding muscle coordination of posture. *Prog Brain Res,* 165, 299-321. TODD, A. J. 2010. Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. *Nat Rev Neurosci,* 11, 823-36.

TODOROV, E. 2004. Optimality principles in sensorimotor control. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7, 907.

TORRES-OVIEDO, G. & TING, L. H. 2007. Muscle synergies characterizing human postural responses. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 98, 2144-2156.

TRIMBLE, M. H. & KOCEJA, D. M. 1994. Modulation of the triceps surae H-reflex with training. *Int J Neurosci*, 76, 293-303.

TRIMBLE, M. H. & KOCEJA, D. M. 2001. Effect of a reduced base of support in standing and balance training on the soleus H-reflex. *Int J Neurosci,* 106, 1-20. TURVEY, M. T. 1990. Coordination. *Am Psychol,* 45, 938-53.

VALLBO, A. B. 1970. Discharge patterns in human muscle spindle afferents during isometric voluntary contractions. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 80, 552-66.

VAN DEURSEN, R. W. M., BUTTON, K. & ROOS, P. E. 2017. Whole Body Coordination and Knee Movement Control During Five Rehabilitation Exercises. *J Mot Behav*, 1-10.

WILSON, G. J. & MURPHY, A. J. 1996. The use of isometric tests of muscular function in athletic assessment. *Sports Med*, 22, 19-37.

WINTER, D. A. 1987. Sagittal plane balance and posture in human walking. *IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag,* 6, 8-11.

WINTER, D. A., MACKINNON, C. D., RUDER, G. K. & WIEMAN, C. 1993. An integrated EMG/biomechanical model of upper body balance and posture during human gait. *Prog Brain Res*, 97, 359-67.

WOJTARA, T., ALNAJJAR, F., SHIMODA, S. & KIMURA, H. 2014. Muscle

synergy stability and human balance maintenance. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 11, 129. WOLPAW, J. R. 2001. Spinal cord plasticity in the acquisition of a simple motor skill. *Spinal Cord Plasticity: Alterations in Reflex Function*, 101-125.

WOLPAW, J. R. 2007a. Spinal cord plasticity in acquisition and maintenance of motor skills. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, 189, 155-69.

WOLPAW, J. R. 2007b. Spinal cord plasticity in acquisition and maintenance of motor skills. *Acta Physiologica*, 189, 155-169.

WOLPERT, D. M., DIEDRICHSEN, J. & FLANAGAN, J. R. 2011. Principles of sensorimotor learning. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 12, 739-51.

WOOLLACOTT, M. H., BONNET, M. & YABE, K. 1984. Preparatory process for anticipatory postural adjustments: modulation of leg muscles reflex pathways during preparation for arm movements in standing man. *Exp Brain Res*, 55, 263-71.

WOOLLACOTT, M. H. & SHUMWAYCOOK, A. 1996. Concepts and methods for assessing postural instability. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 4, 214-233. YANG, J. F., LIVINGSTONE, D., BRUNTON, K., KIM, D., LOPETINSKY, B., ROY, F., ZEWDIE, E., PATRICK, S. K., ANDERSEN, J., KIRTON, A., WATT, J. M., YAGER, J. & GORASSINI, M. 2013. Training to enhance walking in children with cerebral palsy: are we missing the window of opportunity? *Semin Pediatr Neurol*, 20, 106-15.

ZAR, J. H. 1999. *Biostatistical analysis,* Upper Saddler River, N.J., Prentice Hall.

Appendix

Details of PCA analysis and R scripts

PCA is mathematically defined as an orthogonal transformation that transforms the data to a new <u>coordinate system</u> such that the greatest variance by some projection of the data comes to lie on the first coordinate (called the first principal component), the second greatest variance on the second coordinate, and so on. To assess component analysis, the equation as W= T/X has been used.

Where W is weight of component analysis

Where T is defined by 5 Trials of muscle contraction

Where X is defined by using 17 subjects x 5 muscles column RF, VL , VM BF and ST of data sets

First component

To maximize variance, the first weight vector $w_{(1)}$ thus has to satisfy.

Where $x_{(i)} \cdot w_{(1) \text{ is }}$ the first principal component of a data vector $x_{(i)}$ can then be given as a score $t_{1(i)} = x_{(i)} \cdot w_{(1)}$ in the transformed co-ordinates, or as the corresponding vector in the original variables, { $x_{(i)} \cdot w_{(1)}$ } w₍₁₎.

Further components

The *k*th component can be found by subtracting the first k - 1 principal components from X: and then finding the weight vector which extracts the maximum variance from this new data matrix.

Dimensionality reduction

The transformation T = X W maps a data vector $x_{(i)}$ from an original space of *p* variables to a new space of *p* variables which are uncorrelated over the dataset. However, not all the principal components need to be kept.

To plot the PCA component, R scripts were used by online version as PTcomp in R script.

https://stat.ethz.ch/R-manual/R-devel/library/stats/html/prcomp.html

Description

Performs a principal components analysis on the given data matrix and returns the results as an object of class prcomp.

Usage

prcomp(x, ...)

S3 method for class 'formula'

prcomp(formula, data = NULL, subset, na.action, ...)

Default S3 method:

prcomp(x, retx = TRUE, center = TRUE, scale. = FALSE, tol = NULL, rank. = NULL, ...)

S3 method for class 'prcomp'

predict(object, newdata, ...)

Arguments

- formula a formula with no response variable, referring only to numeric variables.
- data an optional data frame (or similar: see <u>model.frame</u>) containing the variables in the formula. By default, the variables are taken from the environment(formula).
- subset an optional vector used to select rows (observations) of the data matrix x.
- na.action a function which indicates what should happen when the data contain NAs. The default is set by the na.action setting of <u>options</u> and is <u>na.fail</u> if that is unset. The 'factory-fresh' default is <u>na.omit</u>.
- ... arguments passed to or from other methods. If x is a formula one might specify scale. or tol.
- x a numeric or complex matrix (or data frame) which provides the data for the principal components analysis.
- retx a logical value indicating whether the rotated variables should be returned.
- center a logical value indicating whether the variables should be shifted to be zero centred. Alternately, a vector of length equal the number of columns of x can be supplied. The value is passed to scale.
- scale. a logical value indicating whether the variables should be scaled to have unit variance before the analysis takes place. The default is FALSE for consistency with S, but in general, scaling is advisable. Alternatively, a vector of length equal the number of columns of x can be supplied. The value is passed to <u>scale</u>.
- tol a value indicating the magnitude below which components should be omitted. (Components are omitted if their standard deviations are less than or equal to tol times the standard deviation of the first component.)

With the default null setting, no components are omitted (unless rank. is specified less than min(dim(x)).). Other settings for tol could be tol = 0 or tol = sqrt(.Machine\$double.eps), which would omit essentially constant components.

- rank. optionally, a number specifying the maximal rank, i.e., the maximal number of principal components to be used. Can be set as an alternative or in addition to tol, useful notably when the desired rank is considerably smaller than the dimensions of the matrix.
- object of class inheriting from "prcomp"
- newdata An optional data frame or matrix in which to look for variables with which to predict. If omitted, the scores are used. If the original fit used a formula or a data frame or a matrix with column names, newdata must contain columns with the same names. Otherwise, it must contain the same number of columns, to be used in the same order.

Details

The calculation is done by a singular value decomposition of the (centred and possibly scaled) data matrix, not by using eigen on the covariance matrix. This is generally the preferred method for numerical accuracy.

Unlike <u>princomp</u>, variances are computed with the usual divisor N - 1.

Note that scale = TRUE cannot be used if there are zero or constant (for center = TRUE) variables.

Value

prcomp returns a list with class "prcomp" containing the following components:

- Sdev the standard deviations of the principal components (i.e., the square roots of the eigenvalues of the covariance/correlation matrix, though the calculation is done with the singular values of the data matrix).
- rotation the matrix of variable loadings (i.e., a matrix whose columns contain the eigenvectors). The function princomp returns this in the element loadings.
- X if retx is true the value of the rotated data (the centred (and scaled if requested) data multiplied by the rotation matrix) is returned. Hence, cov(x) is the diagonal matrix diag(sdev^2). For the formula method, <u>napredict()</u> is applied to handle the treatment of values omitted by the

na.action.

center, the centring and scaling used, or FALSE.

Note

The signs of the columns of the rotation matrix are arbitrary, and so may differ between different programs for PCA, and even between different builds of R.